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We believe in the power of ingenuity to build a
positive human future,

As strategies, technologies and innovation collide,
we create opportunity from complexity.

Our diverse teams of experts combine innovative
thinking and breakthrough use of technologies to
progress further faster. Qur clients adapt and transform,
and together we achieve enduring resuits.

PA. Bringing ingenuity to Life.
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PA Consulting Group (‘PA’ or ‘the Group’) is an innovation and
transformation consultancy headguartered in London, UK.

PA employs over 3.500 specialists in consumer ang
manufacturing, defence and security, energy and utilities.
financial services, government, health and life sciences,
and transporti.

The board of directors of PA Consulting Group Limited
present their inancial and strategic reviews for the period
ended 31 December 2021 o pages 5 to 21,

These financial statements comprise PA Consulting Group
Limited's conselidated and company results for the pericd
to 31 December 2021.

Until 2 March 2021, PA Consulting Group Holdings Limited
was the holding company for the Group. As explained later
i1 this report, on 2 March 2021 Green Consulting Sofutions
Limited became the new holding company of the Group
and subsequently changed its name to PA Consulting
Group Limited.

PA Consulting Group Limited is owned by current employees
and by Jacobs Engineerng Groug Inc. {Jacohs). sacobs’
investment In PA Is a private equity-style investment, and
repiaces the investment from The Carlyle Group. which
previously invested in PA through CEP IV Participations
SICAR, an entity controlled by funds that are affihates of

The Carlyle Group. PA Consuiting Group Holdings Limited 1s
now wholly awned by PA Consulbing Group Limited.



FINANCIAL REVIEW

2021 financial highlights

£588.8m £175.4m  £137.8m

Fee income Adjusted EBITDA* Adjusted
operating cash
generation***
£691.5m £200.Im
Proforma** Proforma*?

Thius 1s the first set of results for PA Consulting Group
Limited (formerly Green Consulting Solutions Limited)

and the PA Consulting Group, which caver the pariod from
the Company's incorparation on 20 November 2020 to

31 December 2021, Conseguently, no financial comparatives
ara presented. The Group started tradmg from the date of
acquisition of the former PA Consulting Group and therefore
results are for 10 months of trading.

The Company was incorporated with the strategic purpose
of acguiring 100 per cent ownership of PA Consulting Group
Holdings Limited (formerly PA Consulting Group Limited) and
the former PA Consulting Group. enailing the givestment
of Carlyle at the end of their investment cycle (the previous
majority shareholder of the Group) and new investment of
Jacobs Engineering Group In¢ (Jacobs) as the replacement
majarity shareholder, This s therefore the first year of a new
investmaent cycle and collaboration and consistent with the
nrevious group's ownarship structure, sharehaldmg in

PA Consulting Groug Limited is jointly between investor
and employees, 65 per cent held by Jacobs and 35 per

cent by current employees under a private equity-style
capital structure.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

*Adjusted EBITDA is profit before interes:. tax. depreciation,
amortisation and exceptionzl items.

“*Proforma numbers represent the Group results had a full
12 months of the PA Consuiting Group been consohdatea.

**Adiusted operating cash generation Is net cash flows
from operating activities removing the excepticnal
distribution made by the Group’s EBT following the
acquisition transaction and transaction related stamp
duty costs.

Acquisition of PA Consulting

The Company completed the acquisition of the former

PA Consulting Group on 2 March 2021 tor a total amount

of £1,842.7 million (£1,575.9 m:llion cansideration to
acquire 100 per cent of the total 1ssued equity and

£266.8 million to repurchase outstanding loan notes from
Carlyle), funded predominantly by £1.822.2 million of

debt in the form of a £650 mitlion term loan and

£1.182.2 millior 12 per cent preference shares, with the
remaining £10.5 million from the 1ssue of ordinary share
equity. This funding ratio rasults n the typical private-eguity
balance sheet profiie of signifrcant non-current liahilities and
interest expense,

The transaction has shaped other areas of the Group’s
kalance sheet too with recognition at acquisition of

£1,755.9 milkon intangible assets mamly consisting of
£720.9 million separately identifiable brand and customer
relationship assets reflective of the unique position and
reputation that PA Consulting has in its sector combined with
its strong customer base, and £1,035.0 mulhon of goodwil
representing the assembled werkforce that has been
acguired. As is inherent In a people-centric husiness

a substantial portion of its value is in its team,

Further detalls of the fransaction are inctaded in note 25 to
the accounts.
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Results and performance

The reported consolidated results for the Group's initial
trading period only include PA Consulting's trading for the
10 months since acquisition. A proforma set of results to
represent a full 12 months of the acquired Group’s trade is
included at the end of this review,

The Group has produced a strong first set of financial results,
a reflection of the stability and quality ¢f the acguired PA
Consuiting busmness. With tre Group's robust customer
portfolio and gradual diminishing of COVID-13 uncertainties
marking the beginning of business life returning to something
near normal we look forward to these strong results
continuing into 2022,

Fee income

The Group's main revenue performance measure is fee
income which represents the fair value of consideration
received ar receivable for consulting services provided,
excluding rechargeable project costs but inclusive of any
margin on such items. Fee ncame gererated 10 the reporting
neriod was £588.8 million (FE91.5 million on a proforma
12-month basis).

The Group has delivered some crucial and forward-thinking
ornjects for ous clients during the period, and has been
involved with supporting international governments in
establishing and developing their COVID-variant responses
and continued vaccine rollout programmes. particularly in
the UK and Netherlands, and helping set best practice tor
data privacy in the financial services sector. an area where
we help firancial services firms understand, evclve and
meet the disruptive forces of requlation, technology and
changing customer expectations through new business
models and technology.

Couged with this, there has also been a significant focus
on working with our clients on their environmental and
sustainability issues: designing a new EV chargepoint as part
of the UK Government's decarbonisation plan. partnering
with a client to enhance their sustainable packaging
praduction method, and assisting a vanety of clients

with realising the sustainability benefits of implementing
arganisational agility in their businesses. it is expected that
more pusiness oppertunities will come in these areas over
the coming year and will help to drive the Group’s results
post-COVID.

Qur chent work over the period reflects our behef that
unprecedented changes in society and technology are
creating new opperlunities to make a positive impact.

We have a distinct brand, market positioning and competitive
differentiation. As we go from strength-to-strength, we're
hiring incredible world-class senior talent, winning exciting
work that directly addresses the biggest challenges and
opportunities gur clierts face, and further strengthening key
capabilities in areas like digital and design.

While the UK 1s the Group's daminant gecgraphic market,
we moved Lo scale in the US on both revenue and headcount,
with consulling heads up 33 per cent and our stock aof work
up 13 per cent. The benefits of the previous PA Consulting
acguisitions made in 2020 are starting to be realised and
with a new senior managerment position focusing specificaliy
an US growth, the Group ts well positioned to continue 1ts
growth strategy in the region.

Investrnent has focussed on organic growth during the
period, with increases in the size of feg-earming teams in all
of our key geographies, Qur closing consultant headcount
represents & 14 per cent increase since the acguisition in
March 2021 and whiie recruitrnant remains competitive in
the rmarket, we are confident we will be conlinuing this
team-butd through 2022.

CQverall. the Group has ended the period with a healthy
stock of work of £264.7 milhor and a good sales pipeline of
opportunities as we head into the next year.

Total revenue, which is inclusive f income fram rechargeable
project costs, was £676.8 million for the period (E793.8 million
proforma for 12 months),



Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is the principal measure of the Group's
undertying frading performance. This metric represents profit
befare interest, tax, depreciation, amaortssation, exceptional
items, and ron-cash gain or foss on disposal of assets,

The Group's adjusted EBITDA was £175.4 million

(£200.1 millian proforma far 12 months). This has heen

a strong underlying performance which has resulted from a
combnnation of cost efficiencies. the team still predominantly
working remotely throughout the pericd and consequently
glokal travel and related casts have been abnormally low. and
tha demand in the market for our skills, which has meant our
utilisation rates have beenin excess of hustoncal levels.

We are expecting our focus on growing the team to remedy
this as we go through 2022 and are &lso expecting global
travel to steadily resuime as we, and our clients, move to &
mare normal hybrid way of working.

Adjusted EBITDA excludes net costs of £199.8 million,

In May 2021 the Group’s employee benefit trust {(EBT)
made an excepticnal distnibution of £188.4 mithon to
employees in cennection with the acquisition of PA
Consuling. To be ehgibie for this distribution, emplovees
were required to remain in empioyment until the payment
date and consequently accounting standards require this
distribution to be recorded as employment cost rather
than a consideration payment despite the close proximity
to the transaction. In addition. £7.9 million of stamp duty
was incurred as parf of acquiring the share capital of PA
Consutting Group Hoidmgs Limited.

The remaining adjusting items totalhing £3.5 million mainly
relate to costs connected with PA Consulting’s prior
acquisitions. share-hased payment charge, or have been
incurred as part of business wind-down in gecgraphical
locations which sit outside of the Group’s strateqic footprint,
Full getails of these adusted items are disclosed in note 6.

FINANCAL REVIEW

Loss hefore tax

Inherent with the private equity-style capital structure
created to enahle the Company to complete the acouisition,
the interest charges that the Group mcurs are significant
due to the 12 per cent preference shares which are treated
as debt for accounting purposes due to their terms and
conditions, These shares accumulated £115.5 million of
dividends during the period (treated as finance cost) with
£21.3 milhion attributable to the Group's £650 million
variable rate term lgan. The miarest obligation on the
preference shares accumulates on an annual basis unless
settled, therefore the interest expense will be considerably
higher each year until settlement 1s made. As these are
capital instruments, there is no obligation on the Company
to cash-settte this amcunt in the period and consequently
the Group's interest cashflow is significantly lower than the
charge incurred.

The total net finarcing casts of £138.5 million include a
further £1.7 mullion of interest-like chargas in relation to the
Group’s leases offset by £0.1 million of interest income.

After net financing costs. the Group generated o reporieg
loss an ordmary activities before tax of £227.0 million for
the period.

Cash flow

The Group's cashflow v the periad 1s heavily impacted

by the acquisition with consideration cash payment of
£1,256.3 milkion being funded through the £650 million term
loan drawdown and £901.4 million of capital issuance. The
resulting net :nflow relates to the £294.1 milkon of cash held
by the PA Consulting Group at the time of the acquisition.
The Groug also 1ssted £292.3 million of share units directiy to
the former sharehoiders in exchange for their previous shares
which is treated as non-cash consideration for the purposes
of cashflow reporting. Stamp duty of £7.9 million was settled
i cannechion with the acquired shares.

The Group's net aperating cash outflow of £58.5 million s
due (o the exceplional £188.4 million EBT distribulion made
shartly after the acguisition, The £7.9 million stamp duty
cost incurred as part of acquiring the shares is also not
related to trading activities and both items obscure the true
underfying cash generation of the business which would
have been £137.8 million inflow for the period without
these dishursements,



The majority of the Group's other £6.4 million investment
spend has been focused on refreshing the IT hardware and
infrastructure used by our employees in delivering their
projects and roles and on the final rollout of the Group’s new
CRM system which went live during the period and wil! allow
us better visihility and tracking of client opportunities.

Buring the period, the Group conducted varous transachions
1 its own shares resulting in a nat qutflow of £25.9 million.
The main fransaction was a £26.5 million share buy-back in
Cecember to repurchase shares from ieavers, Full settlement
was made for all shares held and therefore no further
amounts are payable to these leavers. The shares were held
within the Group's EBT at the period end. Further financing
activities include paying rent abligations of £7.3 million
mairly from property leases, the majority of which relates to
the Group's UK head office, and £14.1 million of interest on
the £650 mitlion lerm toan. Trroughout the period the Group
maintained significant headroom on its laan covenant,

After these investing and financing activities, the Group had
an overall inflow of £183.1 million resulting in a closing cash
and cash equivalents balance of £183.2 million.

Statement of financial position

Non-current assets and liabilities

As a result of the acquisition of the former PA Consulting
Group. as noted earlier, the Group's balance sheet 15
dominated by long-term items recognised as part of the
transaction. These items remain broadly the same at the
reporting date as at the date of acquisrion, resulting in
non-currant assets of £1,786.1 mullion and non-cuarrent
Hahilities of £2.118.5 mullion. the mamn movements since the
acquisition date being a reduction in intangible assets of
£51.6 milbon predominantly due to the amortisation charged
for the period (closing net book value of £669.3 milion),
£89,2 milkon ncrease in borrowings from the accumutation
of dividends on the 12 per cent preference shares offsat

by shares repurchased and held at the period end (¢iosing
ook vatue of £1,221.4 million) and £20.0 miilion increase
in deferred tax liability in relation to the acquired intangibkle
assets (closing book value of £139.7 million).

The Group's repurchase of 4,664,398 share wwts (a share
unit being a stapled ratio of one ordinary B share and

3.6 preference shares) and 2 small number of ordinary

C shares from former employees close to the period end,

as described previously, has meant that these shares
remained within the EBT and consequently within the

Group at the reporting date. The £0.3 mill:on attributable to
orcinary shares is disclosed within equity and £26.1 midlion
attributable to preference shares s offset against the related
borrowings w.thin non-currant liabilities,

Current assets and liabilities

The Group ended the pernod with a £70.6 million net current
asset positiorn, Whifst the Group has significant trade and
other current liahilities. £222.5 miilion at the reporting date. it
also holds significant levels of easily avallable cash resources.
including capacity through its revolving credit facility. In
addition, the Group has £39.4 miilion of trade receivables
which have a healthy ageing profile with only 19 per cent
past due and minimal expected credit losses (see note 4.2.1
for further details). The Group operates a prompt payment
protocol with its supptliers, in keeping with the UK's Prompt
Payment Code and consequently outstanding trade
payables are consequently fow. just £1.9 million at the

end of the pariod.

The key items included within current liabilities are
£135.2 mithon of deferred employee remuneratior and
£7.7 mullion of acqguisition-related contingent payments
which relate to the legacy acguisitions made oy the PA
Consulting Group prior to the acguisition.
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Proforma income statement and financial position

The reported Group resiits consolidate ten tniurlhs of trading of the PA Consulting Group of companies. Proforma numbers
1o reflect a full twelve months of trading are presented kelow to help dlustrate what the Group's operating results would have
been If the investment had occurred on 1 January 2021,

Reperted 10 months trading Proforma 12 menths trading*

2021 2021 2020

£m £m fm

Fee income 588.8 691.5 558.7
Project costs recharged . __ 8o 102.4 91.2
Revenue 676.8 793.9 645.9
Adjusted EBITDA 175.4 200.1 137.7
Depreciation and amortisation (64.1) (76.9) (32.4)
Excepticnal items (199.8) (200.9) (24.0)
Group operating (loss)/profit (88.5) (77.7) 81.3

*unaudited

The proforma 2021 financial results have been calcuiated from 12 menths actual trading of the original PA Cansulting Group,
adjusted for significant items thar would change due to the acquisition, grimarily an increased depreciation and amortisation
charge for the higher leve] of acguired intangibtes.



The Group's retained profit 1s significantly impacted by the capital structure interent in a private equity-style mvestment due
to the high proporten of capital funding being debt or debt-like instruments. This significantly adversely impacts the positon
af the balance sheet and the profit before tax and in management’s view does not reflect the strengtn of the underlying

operations. Had the mvestment been funded through ordinary share capital rather than the debt-like preference shares, the

Group's capital structure would be more comparable with a normal corporate capital structure and its key balance sheet and

P&L measures would look as presanted below:

Reported Adjustment® Adjusted®

The adjustments in the curtent perlad tefate fa.
semoval af excaptionabincome ang cnsts
. Remzsal ot inerest on preference shaves.

Lo Reneeal 0fF amounts due on preference shares,

o £m £m £m

Pra forma income statement and financial position

Fee income 588.8 - 588.8
Project costs recharged 88.0 - 88.0
Revenue 676.8 - 676.8
EBITDA (24.9) 199.8 1754 ()
Depreciation and amortisation (64.13 - (64.1)
Group operating prefit (88.5) 199.8 1i1.3

Net interest payable and similar items and cther

finance costs (138.5) 1155 (232.00 (i)
Profit/{loss) an ordinary activities before taxation (227.0) 315.3 88.3

Pro forma statement of financial position

Non-current assets 1,786.1 - 1,786.1

Net current assets 70.6 - 70.6
Non-current liabilities (2,110.5) 1,271.4  (838.1) (i}
Net assets {253.8) 1,271.4 1,017.6
“Unaudited



STRATEGIC REVIEW

2021 was another remarkable year

Qur teams applied their ingenuity to tackle life-changing
prajects and deliver end-to-end innovation for clients in
challenging times.

As the way we live and work continues to change in
unprecedentad ways, our purpose of bringing ingenuity

to life 1s more important than ever. It drives our focus, unites
our team, and Inspires our clionts as we wark tagether to
build a posttive human future.

Innovating for our clients

What sets us apart is our dedication to innovating our
clients’ expernence of working with us, both in whal we do,
and how we do it - striving to bring ingenuity to life in
every interaction.

And we're perfectly positioned to to so. We're the only

company with Lthe rarge of experlise - strategists, innovators.

designers, consultants, digital experts, scientists, engineers
an techinologists - to deliver end-to-end innovation.

We accelerate new growth :deas from concept. through
design, development, and to commercial success, as well as
revitalising organisations - buillding the leadersnip, culture,
systems and processes to make innovation a reality,

2021 presented a second challenging year for many
arganisations, as they grappled with the effects of the
COVID-19 panderuc, We apphied our market-leading
capabilities to build new revenue platfarms, improve
experience for our clients' customers, ana transform
orgamsations to be more resilient and agile.

STRATEGIC REVIEW

We created a brand strategy for Wildtype. a start-up
develaping sustainable lab-grown salmon, to grow their
market recognition, and we enzbled clean energy innovation
for wind turbiine manufacturer, Vestas. We developed a
device to improve end-of-life patient comfort in healthcare
for US medical device start-up, Bearpac Medical. and created
a ground-breaking virtual reality, ‘Museum of the Future’

for the UK’s Defance Science and Technology Laboratory
(Dstl) to explore the potential impact of military and policy
decisions. technologies, and future gperating emvironments.
And we unveiled a new EV chargepoint design concept at
COP26 to help accelerate the transition to electnic vehicles in
our glabal fight against climate change.

We codified our work with clients into market-leading
thaught leadership; from how 1o use organisational agility
for a compelitive edge, how financial services can provide
customars with more sustainable choices, and how we can
think differently about water to help decarnonice the planet,

Investing in our people

We deliver great work hecause of our brilliant poople,

They bring real-world experience to tackle cur clients’
biggest challenges. And they live our purpose every day.
We weicomed over 1,300 new people, including 50 partners,
to PA N 2021 and we continue to hire at pace in 2027 -
further growing the critical skills that help our clients thrive,

I return for our people’s expertise and commitment, we
offer stimulating work, inspiring teams to learn inand an
nclusive and supportive culture to help them grow.

1



Our Future

Laoking forward, a strong 2021 means we're in g great
positinn for growth.

Qur strategy is clear. We'll focus growth or our core
geographies, investing in building our deep sector expertise
and bringing together our eng-to-end capabilities to create
even more ingenious responses tc our clients’ biggest
chalienges, And we'll ensure we continue to recruil divarse
talent and further invest in creating opportunities for

aur people to learn, develop and bulld exciting and
rewarding careers,

The completion of Jacobs’ strategic investment in

March 2021 marked the beginning of a successful new
chapter for us. Jacobs’ complementary capabilities have
accelerated our growth plans and further strengthened our
ability to deliver innovative solutions for our clents.

We have big ambitions far the months and years ahead, as
we buld on the momentum of a successiul year.

Inclusion and diversity

We continued cur commitment to equal oppartunities
and progressing our Inclusion & Diversity (I&D) agendza
during 2021,

We made progress against our comatments to fight racism
and drive lasting change. We ran firm-wide traiming on topics
like allyship. and we held conversations with leadership
teams about intersectionality and tokenism. We launched

a Women in Leadership programme which supports our
drive to increase representation of women at senior levels by
building professional growth and aspiration and helping to
break down any barners to progression.

We partnered with schoots. colleges and urnversities, and
speciahst recrurtment firms. to recruit more diverse taiént
at every level, To empower young peopte from diverse
backgrounds to fulfil their ambitions, we joined forces
with the National Society for Black Engineers (NSBE) and
Generation Success, and improved the diversity of our
graduate recruitment pipeline,

We hacked new nihiatives from our RISE, Mental Health and
Wellbeing, PRIDE, anc Women's employee networks, and
we launched a new Military Network.

We also published our first internal Diversity Data report in
2021, The report provided insight on our Gender Pay Gap
atid our qual Pay audit process and results. in addition,
the raport shied light on how diverse talent flows through
qur organisation by applying an ethrucity lens to our firm
composition in the UK and US, and a gender lens to our firm
composition and promation rate globally,

Gender is just one facet of diversity and the table below
provides a breakdown of gender diversity across various
levels at PA as at 31 December 2021,

Female Male
Total PA employees 1,378 2,289
th'e senor leadershio team and directors of
o S S A S
S$enior leadership team 8 189
foAEL L e 20 [T
Directors of PA Consulting Group Limited 0 &

at 31 December 2021




Employee wellbeing and development

We have continued to pricrilise the health of our people
during the pandemic, using this as a guiding principle for our
approach to hybrid working for employees at hcme and in
aur offices,

We faunched g wellbeing microsite early in 2021, providing
access toinformation on services, tips, and resources to
support cur people in prioritising and maintaining their
wellbemng. We also hosted a serias of events and workshaops
on topics ranging from sleep to the cathartic power of
creative writing. We also help our teams hone their craft by
offering ongaing learning and mentorship opportunities,
During the year, our people completed the eguivalent of
more than three years of virtual learning on PA Academy
and our Learning and Development team launched 16 new
courses. Meanwhile, our Graduate Development Programme
and Mentoring circles supported the welcoming of 172
Graduate analysts across our offices in five countries.

Supporting our communities

Creating a positive human future for ait extends beyoend our
peaple and client efforts 1o endeavouring to unlock ingeruity
across wider society,

We run impact-driven nitiatives at a firm-wide level anc

we partner with organisations in the places we live and

waork to offer pro bono assistance (o communities - and aur

partnership with The PA Foundation will amplify this impact
i 2022. Our people will velunteer thetr skills and experience,
working alongside the Foundation, to make a real difference.

In 2021 we also welcomed disadvaniaged young peopie
onto our virtual UK and US Springboard work experience
programme. where cur experts and dlients mentored them
as they developed solutions to global issues. We donated
hundreds of PA laptops to The Turing Trust, so they can
continue to give children in the UK and Malaw thgital access.
Through our Raspberry Pi Competition, we challenged
students in the UK and the Netherlands to put their
engingering and coding skills to the test, using a Raspberry
Pi microcomputer to design technology to create a positive
hurran future for everyone following the giobaf pandemic.

STRATEGIC REVIEW

While our Women in Tech {WIiT) nstwork trained women
in digital skilis to address the gender imbalance in
technology carears.

We continued to champion equal opportunity across
defence through our longstanding partnership with Women
in Defence UK, whereby our people volunteer time for
activities like a cross-defence mentoring programme that
saw 50 per cent more meantee-mentor pairings last year,
And we provided coaching services to The Forces
Employment Charity to support military veterans who are
looking for wark ar transitioning out of the armed forces.

Environmental, Health & Safety

Environmental Sustainability

Substantial changes in how PA is responding to the climate
crisis were made in 2021, Our hoard made a commiiment to
set Science Based Targets in line with & global temperature
rse of 1.57C above pre-industrial levels. We alsc made a
commitment to reach net zero across all our operations by
2030 as part of the development of our first formal Carbon
Reduction Plan.

This has all been against the backdrop of the continued
COVID-19 pandermic, and the ongoing impact which that has
had on the way we work. We have continued to support our
colleagues to work safely and preductively from home, while
heginning the transition Lo a hybnd work maodel, giving them
the flexibility to deliver therr zest work wherever they are.

The continuation of COVID-related restrictions has again
artificially depressed our business travel, however we saw
a gragual iIncrease in travel during the year.
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2021 Energy and carcon summary

Data for the UK, 2020 vs, 2021

Scope

Scope 1 - direct
GHG emissions

Source 2020 2020 GHG 2021 2021 GHG Difference
consumption emissions (tCC2e) cohsumption  emissions (tCO2e)

Gas consumption 2,444,990 kWh MLL 2,040,749 xWh 370.5 -1G -

42 kg 5.2 J%Q Z -100%

F-gas consumption

Other fuel
cohsumption

not applicable

not applicable

not applicable

not applicable

SCOCE 2 ZEREDY b cpacad electricity 2,739,782 kWh 638.8 2,725,875 KWk 578.8 -G
indirect emissions
Purchased electricity see above . see above 513 g
T&D losses consumption = consumption o -
Water consumption& 5 941 ooa hes 31 10,807,000 htves 45 448
treatment
Waste (recycling and gt 79 gt 6.9 5%
fandfed |y
F-gas consumption A a5 kg .
{Irased officos} 2z 8 (estimated) 06 79
Scape 3 - otho : L _.; ez 26+ ” - 080t . o o
indirect emissions Busmes_s air travel___ L 409,203 «m 876 L 1.595 990 km - ) 5687 58 B
Business car & 1,950,384 ke 3612 1,427 534 ks 2785 213
tax) travel
Business train travel 2.800.45¢6 km 1441 1.658.561 wn 58.9 -Lo
Business public 24,987 km 0 6,672 ke 0.2 75
transport travel
Paper procurement 9.1t 54 9.1t 3.4 0
Employee commuting 18,386 km 5757 23,872 km 706.6 23%
Total 5,184,772 kWh 3,164.7 4,766,624 kWh 2427.3 -23%

*Tris year. for othees that dic not ngwe warer fonsumption 4ata, an estimase of 4m Jemeloyvessannum was mede based on ind.stry benchmarks far tpocal

office usage.
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Globat data, 2020 vs. 2021

Scope Source 2020 2020 GHG 2021 2021 GHG Difference
consurmption emissians {C02e) consumption  emissions {(tCO2e)
Gas consumption 4,082.663 475.5 2,474,768 385.4 -19%
Seope 1- direct F-gas consumption 40.0kg 51.2 G 0.0 -100¢4
GHG emissions - -
Other fuel . . . .
. |
consumption not applicable not applicable not applicable not applicakle
SCIDE 2 EMOTIY b hased electricity 3,135,751 779.3 3.230.207 772.3 -1%
indirect emissions
Purchased electricity see above see above ~ -
i £2.9 . 8,7 -5
T&D losses consumption consumption
Water consumption& - 3 425 040 s 4.0 13.536.000 htres 5.7 +43.
treatment
Waste (recycling and 12 20 181 e 67
landfil)
F-gas consumption . N - P bl P
2 imMatel 4.1 41
deased offines) 2.2kg (estimatsd) 2.9 kg festimated) 1 +4
Sczpe 3 - other . . - 1 eap - o o o -
2447 4 - 3961 2.590,497 k; 621.¢ -hal
indirect emissions _Busmess air travel £,447,4727 kr ) B 1,396 2.800,49 KA'“ B ozl_o w_
Business car & 408.4 1.568.099 km 300.9 268
taxi travel
Business train travel 4,317,930 1,527,855 km 54.8 <59
Business public 37,853 ke 12 15,840 km 5.5 38
transport travel
Paper procurement 9 4 8.1t 3.4 [
Employee commuting 223407 4 731.9 20840 km £82.6 =200
Totai 5,718,414 k'Wh 4,074.3 5,304,973 kWh 3,103.2 -28%

“Thes year, “or offices that die not have water consumption data, an estimate of 4~ "Jemplovee/annum was maae based on:pdust vy benchmarks 1or tvpical
oftice Jsage.



in 2021 we increased fee :ncome while decreasing both Methodology
the carbon mtensity of our offices and reducing air travel,

- . . . This report follows the GHG Profocol’s Corporate Ac tiry
resulting in a further decrease in the carbon intensity of the P e P counting

and Reporting Standard and HM Government’s Environmental

waork we do. ) .
Reporting Guidelines (2019). The UK government’s DEFRA
Intensity measures: greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors 2020 were used
for making carbon equivalent calculations. These emissions
2021 2020 are defined uncer three different scopes by the GHG
UK Global UK Global Protacol, as shown in the table below:
Carbon 2,427.2 31532 31650 4,079.3
8MIssIang Maturai gas Included Required
{wie)) under
- F-gas Included Streamhbned
Feencome 548 651.7 508.8 £43.9 G Lt Erecgy and
s Carbon
- v o Fueloif Included Reporting
Emissions 4,48 4.43 £.22 .28 (SECR)
Intensity ratic
g o Yioned Grig-supphed Included Required
i - T electricity under SECR
FHeadcount 2.709 3532 2,426 3:.38
- o . , Business trave! Included
Emissions 0.90 0.58 1.32 L0
intensity ratio
LDET oy Erocurement Included
In kne with the requirements of SECR, the ahove data Electacity Not required
transmission and Included i

inciude electncity consumption figures based on the SR distribution under SECR
“locat:on-based ” aporoach, m other worcs overall carbon
intensities for the electrnzity and in each country, However,
this does not take into account individual contracts in place
Tor renawabie electmicity for several of our affices, including Employee neluded
our Global Innovation and Technology Centre (GITC) in commuting

Melbourn, UK. our only owned facility, Taking into account

these renewable electricity contracts, our GHG emissions

wauld reduce to 1.900.4 1CO e, and global emissions would

e 2.574.4tCC e,

Waste

management Included




Where possible, verifiable data was used, for example
obtained through metered data or using invoices or annual
statements from suppliers, Where verifiable data was not
avatable, consumiplion data was estimated by using data
from the mast recent comparable Lime period to fill the

gap, calculating frgures using pro-rata extrapolation or
kenchmarking to proxy the energy consumption of one site
to a similar site. The report data forming this report has been
compiled and verified by an external consultancy.

Energy efficiency action

We have continued to work to reduce our carbon footprint
during the year by improving cur maintenance regimes for
plant and eguipment at cur GITC, conbinung to replace
lighting with LEDCs and implementing an upgrade to our
building management system. This will give us greater
analytical capability to make further savings on running
the facility in the future,

We have continued preparation work for a major
refurhishiment to the building, which we hope to begm in
2022, We expect substantial energy savings to accrue
from the work undertaken, to lead us on cur path towards
net zero.

Social responsibility

At PA we are committed to the equal treatment of all and
we freat all our people with dignity and respect, providing
a productive working environment free from discrimination,
victimisation, coercive pressure, bullying and narassment.

We are a UK Living Wage accredited emplover and we use
only specified, reputable employment agencies to source
labour. and vernfy the practices of any new agency before
accepting workers from that agency.

We take steps to ensure that there 1s no human frafficking
or modern slavery in our supply chain or within any part of
our husiness, and we encourage our suppliers to adopt best
practices in terms of human rights and diversity, which we
assess through aur supplier pre-gualihcation guestionnare.

in 2021 we again had no significant waork-retated accidents -
those which accur as a result of our work or workplace. and
which require notification or reporting to the local regulatory
authority (e.q. Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous
Occurrences Regulations (RIDODOR) in the UK.

We have continued to strengthen our management systems
and have maintained our accreditation against 1SO 45001
health and safety management at the same sites that already
hold 1SQ 14001 ervironmental management.

STRATEGIC REVIEW

Economic responsibility

Economic responsibility is enshrined in our purcose, our
values and our business processes, PA supports sustainable
procurement methods, whether prescribad by legisiation

or through our own policies. As weil as the traditionai
procurement benchmarking criteria of price and guality, we
support the triple bottom line” ideslogy and carsider social.
environmental and economic factors in the procurement
decision-making process. Our supplier diversity policy hielps
ensure that the contracts we place are with a diverse range
of supplers.

We remain an appreved signatoery to the UK Prompt Payment
Cede and we report twice annually on our payment practices
and performance in accordance with the regulations made
under the Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act
201510 the UK.

PA has an open and positive working relationship with the
tax authorities in all the countnies in which we operate. and is
committed to prompt disciosure and transparency in all tax
matters. PA pays fully the taxes due and the Group has a
‘tow risk’ rating from the UK tax authorty, recognising ils
strong governance and control processes and attitude to
compliance in the Group's largest operating region.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

In the course of our day-to-day operations, we face a number
af risks aind uncertainties. Responsibility for ensunng that an
appropriate risk management system is in place tc identify
and manage all significant risk exposures throughout the
Group rests with the board of PA Consulting Group Limited,

The board of PA Consuiting Group Limited, through its
commuttees, has put in piace a structure of policies and
processes toidentify, assess and manage risk. Risk mitigation
strategies include the implementation of internal controls
that. by ther nature, are designad to manage and reduce,
rather than ehiminate, risk.

Tha Risk Management Committee has been given overall
responsibibty by the board for monitoring existing and
ernergng risks. It mamtamns oversight of the mitigating
actions to manage and reduce risks through keeping a central
register of risks and mitigating actions and by viewing regular
status reports from its nisk subcommittees,

The risks that the board seeks to manage fail into four main
categories: market risk, operational risk. professionatl risk and
firancial risk.

Market risk is managed by the Operating and Client
Committees

The Operating and Client Committees comprise the leaders
of PA’s corporate functions and market-facing business
umits. The Operaling and Client Commuttees consider the
appropriateness of PA’s strategy and manage the Group's
exposure to sector. competitor and geographic risk as well
as repulationat risk.

Operational and professional risk is managed by the
Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee comprises corporate and
consulting staff and is chaired by the Chief Executive Officer.
It reviews the Group's non-financial risk. inrluding opcrationa
and professionai risk. il ensures that all new and emerging
risks are appropriately evaiuated and that any necessary
actions are identified and implemented.

The Risk Management Committee aiso provides guidance to
the heads of PA's consulting teams and corporate functions
and to those responsible for managing individual risks.

Financiai risk is monitored by the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises directors of the board of

PA Consuiting Group Limited. s responsible for

overseeing financial control risks. The Audit Comimittes
reviews the effectiveness of systems for PA's internal financial
control environment,

The Operating and Client Committees, Risk Management
Committee and Audit Committee report regularly to the
hoard to demonstrate that risk 1s being effectively managed
across the Group.

The board of PA Consulting Group Limited considers the
matters described in the table below to be principal risks that
face the Group and that could affect the business, results of
operatians, turnaver, profit, cash flow, assets and the delivery
of our strategy. We do not include those risks that are likely
to affect businesses generalty or that are in the nature of our
day-to-day operations.



Risk description

Potential impact

STRATEGIC REVIEW

Mitigation

Market risk

The continued economic
uncertainties in many of
the major markets could
have an adverse impact on
client demand.

In those uncartan times, a rumoeer of marker risks
arg ~eightened, such as a reduction in chent demand
leading to 2 loss of significans revenue streams,
pressure on our billing rates or the collapse of a key
cliont, exposing the Group to potential financial loss,

We have in place an account management programme
focusing particular attention on our top accounts to ensure
stabulity, account arowrth and customer satisfact:on are

all achieved, Owr commercial aporaach ensures that we
pasition our offerings 1 a way that 1s commensul ate with
marke: conditions, yot at ie same ime reflects the value
proposition provided 10 oW clients,

Damage to the PA brand
and reputation could have
an adverse impact on
chert dermand.

The strengtr of our brand 15 crunial Lo our business,

i helps us attract clients, genstate new and exciting
opportunities and attract and retain our people who
value whar we stand for. The perception of PA ano

1“5 offering could be damaged by tadure fe mamtan
high standards of service delivery and the right
culture. Taus could lead te 2 loss of future prontabihty
as fewer clients award business to PA and could lead
to & detenoration in our reputat-cn.

Qur account management programme has a strong focus
an ensuring customer satisfachion, with mandatory client
value revigws for key cltenis gnd assignments. We have
strong internal capability in PR and marketing and access to
extornal experts, We 21so regularly undertake mdependent
cient research. Ouwr Code of Canduct. peonle nolties and
mandatory train:ng are designed to ensute that wea coerate,
and are seen te operaie. in accordance with our values and
1o the h.ghest ethical standards.,

Operational risk

Business continuity nsks
associated with data
secunty.

As with all professioral sarvice “irms, we handle

‘sensitive client information as well as personal

farmation and sur own confioential data. Ensunng
that we handle such information securely is critical to
compliance with data protection legislation and our
repuatanion with clients. employees and government,

Wa have achieved global tecertfication to the IS0 27001
standard for infermation security managemeant, 0s well as
Cyher Essentials ant Cyber Essentials Plus, one of very fow
organisations in the UK that have achieved this standard
for its ylobal operations,

Qur brand in cyber-
security consulting
irCreases vis ility,
which may lead to being
targeiad by therd parl es,

Hackiiv.sts, makign outsiders or even forergn
goveraments may targe! P4, Should suer an attack
successfully disrupt PA's operations or cause us to
lase data, this might have a sigrificant mpact on oy
conlinumg wark ‘gr Lhents.

We have invested in technical systems and contrals to
actively both detect and prevent cyber threats from
affecting PA systems, and have successfully undertaker
indeacndent third-party assessmaent of these centrols.
Cur people receive training to maintain their awareness
of issues and threats and to educate them in that role of
encounter ry such thieats.

Professional risk

Our dependence on
recruitment and retention
of talent with the right
skills and experigrcn.

Sur abiity to graw, mect the demands ot the markert
ant compete effect'vely with other consultancy firms
i5, o a large extent, dependent on heving the talent
i the srganisation and perfarming well. The loss oF
key talent, or the nahility to attract pepple vath the
night skills. could have a senous 1mpact on cur ab)lty
to service chent contracts.

Our most impartant asset s our peapic. 7o onsure (mat we
recruit and retain the right pecple and always have the
right peopie with the right mix of skills on an assignment
team, we Nave rigorous recraitment processes and a
robust approach to performance management to ensure
ndividuals are neebing azteed ohyectives. We 2ls0 have
an extensive learning and development curriculum which
delivors development through Geovs o ses, digital
platforms ang dhvidual coaching,

Risks arising from {egal
and regulatory changes
and compliance with
legslzhien.

Qur operations are subject to a broad spectrum of
legal and regulatory requirements intelation to,

for example, epvironmental 1ssues, employment,
pensicns 2n¢ tax, and regulations goverring the
Groap's activities and services, We ate awara of

the importance of complying with all applicable
legislation offecting our busiess activities and of tne
patenaat financial impact and demage e reputation
thar carvesiIt from a breanh,

Reguiatory developments are actively menitoted by

the Risk Management Committee and by PA's Legal and
Company Secretariat departments to ensure that new
and existing laws and regulations are complied with and
training needs a'e addressed. Best practice governance
processes are in place across the Group and we have a
comprehensive Code of Conduct. conflicts managemenrt
programme and training programme which reinforce
adherence to good working practices and will protect us
from a regulatory breach.

Financial risk

Exgrange rate flictuations
could create earnings and
balence shaet volatility,

We ogerate in g numioer of different countries ang
the Group’s overseas net asset values and overseas
prefits are, therefGre, subject {2 cutrency fluctuations
upon conversion nto storling.

The substantial majority of PA's assets are denominated in
sterling, Material net asset exposuros are hedged.

Insufficient “urds avatlanle
in the right currency to be
ahile to settle obhigations
as they become due.

The Group has a number of operational and debt-
servicing cash requirements in a variety of currencies
and is therefore dependent on having access to
funds at the nignt time to aveid default,

The Group generates funds from its operational activities
In excess of its operational requirements and has
substantial cash balances available which are held as
easily arcessibiz, wah an adequare level maintaned in kay
currencies whare aoprop aia,
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Section 172(1) Statement

This section comprises our Section 172(1) Statement and
should be read in conjunction with the financial and strategic
reviews on pages 5 to 19, The directars of the Company have
acted in a way they considered, in good faith. to be most
likely 1o promote the success of the Company tor the benefit
of the members as a whole, and in doing so had regard.
among other things to:

+  the fikely consequences of any dacision in the long term
+ theinterests of the Company’s employees

« the need o foster busness refationships with sugpliers,
customers and others

» the impact of the Company’s cperations on the
community and the environment

» the desirability of the Company maintaining its reputation
for high standards of business conduct

« the need to act fairly as between the members of
the Company.

PA's six core values - passionate about people, inspired by
chient value, creating commercial success, prizing our ethical
approach, seeking to excel and achieving success through
shared endeavours - are enshrined in our Code of Conduct
and drive the way PA and s directors, behave with chents.
with each other and with everyone else we meet through
CUr work,

Qur core values define our arganisation and represant a
persanal commitment by every ane of our people worldwide.

The governance and control framework which is in place
across the Group ensures that our ccre values are upheld
and that decisions made by the board give due regard to
the long-term impact of those decisions, the interests of the
Company's stakehalders, and the smpact of the Company’s
activities on the commurily, the environment and the
Company's reputation. The key stakehoiders which are
considered by the board when making decisiens include our
people, clients and shareholders, as well as suppliers, the
anvironment and the communities around us.

The PA board receives regular and timely information ¢n
all key aspects of the business, and decisions made are
done so after careful consideration and debate of available
information and detailed papers which focus on relevant
stakeholder considerations.

The directors also have access to advice and guidance from
the Group Company Secretary, as well as BA’s Company
Secretariat and Group legal functions when discharging their
duties. The board has made a number of decisions during
the year which are described m this report. Examples of how
the board has engaged with its stakeholders during the year
are included throughout the report, with further examples
orovided below.

Qur clients

Our clients, and the work we do for them. are cornerstones
of our purpase, and strategy. The way we contribute to our
clients and build successful and enduring relationships is
critical to our success. We engage with our clients closely,
working side by sicde with them m every job we do. In
addition to the work we do every day on client assignments,
we produce many insight and thought leadership pieces

on issues that are top of mund of our clients. Each year, we
publish an ingenuity review, which provides an important
window on PA for our clients, as well as investors, PA people
and petential new jainers, To further understand how well

we are meeting the rneeds of our chents, we undertake client
value reviews. The results of these surveys show that over

95 per cent. of clients would recommend us based an our
work, We're proud to work with clients who make a positive
contribution on ground-breaking and innovative projects that
improve people’s ives. We care about what we do and the
mpact we deliver. Our clients are ambitious to mnovate and
fransform their organisations, markets and society, and we
g0 the extra mile to realise that goal.

Our people

Everything we do starts and ends with our brilliant people.
it's our ingenious mundset, and our approach to our client
work, which enabtles us to live our purpase,

We engage with cur people regularly throughout the year
and thrgugh 2 variety of means. We have a comprehensive
intranet site, digital learning academy. weekly PA news
updates., and regular all-staff messages from our Chief
Executive Officer and other members of our semior leadershic
team. We alsz hold many in-person events and gatherings
throughout our glabal offices.



We regularly undertake an engagement survey of our people
andin 2021, 75 per cent of our people shared their views,
providing 26.000 comments. Listening and responding to
this feedback i3 a huae part of delivering on our commitimenl
to creating a place which attracts the best and brightest

minds and enables everyone to thrive and develop ther skills,

every day. This feedback shapes our firm-wide action plan,
which in 2021 included a refresh of our career frameworks,
a review and benchmark of our approach to reward and
enhancements to our approach to 1T.

Qur sharehoiders

Employee share ownership continues to be an important
part of PA's culture and brand. It 15 a Key feature of our
strategy and is highly valued by our people. PA management
works closely with Jacobs. who have representation on

the PA Consulting Group Limited board. PA employees are
represented on the PA board by the Chief Executive Qfficer
and the former Chief Executive Officer.

Our communities

We are proud that our people engage in our communities,
giving their time and expertise to develop and inspire others,
particularly those facing disadvantage, to be the innovators
and leaders af tomorrow. in 2021, we continued to give back
to our communities through various new and established
initiatives and the establishment of The PA Foundation will
accelerate these efforts.

This strategic review was approved by the board on
8 April 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

s

Ken Toombs
Chigf Executive Officar

PA Consulting Group Limited
Company number: 13035235

STRATEGIC REVIEW
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report for PA Consulting Group
Limited for the period ended 31 December 2021,

Principal activities of the Group

The Company is & holding company within the PA Consulting
Group. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the
provision of a range of consultancy services to governments
and industry. A fair review of the business of the Group
during the financial perioc ended 31 December 2021, the
position of tne Group at the end of the financial period, and
a balanced and comprehensive analysis of the performance
of the Group's business during the period and future
developments, are included .n the financial and strategic
reviews on pages 5 to 19.

Directors

The directors of the Company who were in office during
the period ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
signing of the financial statements were as follows:

John Alexander (appointed 2 March 2021)

Ruaridh Cameran (appointed Z March 2021, resigned
29 November 20213

Michael Carlin {apponted 9 February 2021, resigned
2 March 2021)

Kevin Berryman (appainted 2 March 2021)
Steven J. Demetrioy (appointed 2 March 2021)
Alan Middleton {appointed 2 March 2021)
Raobert Pragada (appointed 20 Novemnber 2020}

Kenneth Taombs (appeinted (2 March 2021)

Directors' indemnity and insurance

In accordance with the articles of association, the Company
has provided to all the directors an indemnity (to the extent
permitted by the Compantes Act 2006) 1n respect of llabiiities
Incurred as a result of their office. and the Company has
taken out an insurance policy in respect of those liabilities

for which directors may not he indemnified.

Neither the indemnity, nor insurance, provides cover In the
event that the director is proved to have acted dishonestly
or frauduienty.

Dividend

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
in respect of the financial period ended 31 December 2021,
Amounts accruing on preference shares at period end are
included 1n note 18 of these financial statements.

Political and charitable donations

No polsical donations were made durning the peried.

During the period the Group made charitable donations of
£245,388. These donalians correspond to recommendations
made by individual employees of the Group in 2021, in
respect of which they individually waived an element of their
deferred remuneration.

Employees

Employee involvernent and engagement

We encourage our people across PA to take active
responsibiity for improving our performance, whether
through enhancing working practices or drawing attention
to hehaviours or other issues that give them concern,

To encourage feedback and suggestions. PA has introduced
procedures and mechanisms to create a culture that allows
people to speak up with confidence and in good faith in the
expectation of bemg heard.

PA regularly conducts an engagement survey, which informs
aur peaple plans, and provides all employees with access

to a ‘Give PA your suggestions facthty. Emoloyees and

third parties, including clients and suppliers, can also raise
concerns through a confidential and anonymous whistle-
blowing helpline that s operated externally. Throughout the
year employees were updated on financial and econamic
factors affecting the performance of the Company.



Supporting colleagues with disabilities

PA is committed to creating a work environment that
supports and inspires all individuals, and we give full
consideration to applications from people with disabitibies.
Arrangements are made for PA employees who have
become disabled in their time at PA to be supported in their
currént roles or to be trained for other positions within cur
arganisation. Employees with disabihties are provided with
equal access to learning, career developrnent and promotion
as are available to all emplovees. within the imitations of
their aptitudes and ablities.

Going concern

As required by company legislation, the directors are
responsible for reviewing and concluding that the use of the
going concern basis of preparation is appropriate for the
Group, I consideration of Lhis, the Directors have taken into
account short and mid-term trading and cash forecasts.
covering the period to June 2023, notential giobal or
economic impacts on the numbers included in those
forecasts and the availability of funding sources for

the Group,

The base forecasts used as part of the review align

with the board-approved budget and long-term

plan and show operating cashfiow to be strong throughout.
Consideration has been given to any potential downside
from the current Ukraine-Russia conflict and the

increasing inflationary environment in the UK (the

Grougy's predominant geography).

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Group does not operate in either the Ukraine or Russian
territories and therefore the conflict is not expected to
create a significant disruption to the current bhusiness model.
A forecast scenario representing a reasonable increase

to costs and prices has been prepared and reviewed to
understand the potential impact on the business from
continued inflation which demonstrated that a sufficient
amount of operational cash headroom is available to the
Group to tolerate such increases. The Group's business modei
has meant that historically the Group is self-funding from its
operating cash generation. Trading and cash conversion has
mostly been unaffected by the econemic uncertainty in the
last two years which has shown that this business model is
robust and fexible to adapt to external volatility.

The Group's financing is a combmation of debit and cash on
hand with the debt being funded from the Group’s majority
investor, Jacabs Engineering Group Inc. Tne maturities on
these debt instruments are well beyond 12 months and
include an undrawn £50 mitlion revolving credit faciity which
provides additional financing capacity should 1t be reguired.
There are no financial covenants that would cause cefault
during the period under consideration, The directors believe
these sources pravide the Group with access to sufficient
longer-term funding and the ultimate lender has appropriate
backing and headroom to support the lending for the
foreseeable future.

Having due regard to these matters, the directors are
satisfied that the Group has sufficient resources and hguidity
to continue to trade for the foreseeable future and conclude
that there is no material uncertainty around the Group's
abilty to continue as a going concern,

Financial instruments

The Group uses forward foreign currency contracts to reduce
exposure 1o foreign exchange rates, Further information
about the mast sigmficant fimancial risks taced by the Group
and how these are managed can be found in the strategic
review and in note 17 of these financial statements.
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Research and development

PA is committed to new knowledge creation and innovation
through the provision of research and development for
clients and through investing in projects internally. The
Group will continue its policy of investment in research and
development in order to retain a competitive position in
the market.

Disclosure of information to auditors

Each director has taken steps in arder to make themself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Group's auditors are aware of that information.
The directors confirm that there 1s no reievant information
that they know of and of which they know the auditors
are ungware.

Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report
and the financial statements in accordance with appiicable
law and regulations, Company law reguires the directors to
prepare financial statements for each financial year,

Under that law the directors have elected to prepare

the Group finanrial statements in compliance with the
International Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and the Company
financial statements in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. The financial
statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of
the state of affars of the Group and the Company and of the
arofit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing thase financial statements. the directors are
required to:

+  salect suitable accounting policies and apply
them consistently

» make judgements and estimates that are reasonable
anc prudent

» state whether applicable United Kingdom accounting
standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements

» prepare the financial staternents an the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group
will cantinue in business,

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements In preparng the financ:al statements,

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Group and the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Greup and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities. The directors
are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of

the corporate and financial information included on the
Company's website, Legisiation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissermination of financiel
statements may differ from legislation in ather junsdictions.

Directors’ responsibilities statement

Each of the ditectors wha is histed on page 22 confirms that
to the best of therr knowledge and helief:

« the financial statements for the financiad period ended 31
December 2021, prepared for the Group, in comphance
with the international Accounting Standards in conformity
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and
for the Company, in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, give a true
and faw view of the assets. habihities, financial position
and loss of the Group and the Company respectively: and

» the strategic review includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the
nasition of the Group and the Company, together with
g description of the principal risks and uncertainties
they face.

This directors’ report was approved by the beard on
8 Apnl 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

ey

Ken Toombs
Chief Executive Officer

PA Consulting Group Limited
Company number: 13035335



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

to the members of PA Consuiting Group Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of PA Cansdilting
Group Ltd. {'the parent company’) and its subsidiaries

(the "Group") for the pencd ended 31 December 2021

which comprise tha consolidated staternent of profit or
loss. the consolidaled and parent company staterment of
financial position, cansobdated statement of cash flows, the
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income,
the consolidated and parent statement of changes in
sharehotder’s equity and the related notes 1 [o 26, including
a summary of signihcant accounting policies. The financial

reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation

of the Group financial statements 1s applicable law and
International Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirements af the Compantes Act 2006. The financial

reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation

of tre parent company financial statements 1s applicable
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, mctuding
FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion:

* the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
Group’'s and of tha parent rompany’s affars as at
31 December 2021 and of the Groug's loss for the peniod
then ended;

*  the Group financial statements have been property
prepared in accordance with international Accounting
Standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act;

» the parent company financial statements have been
properly grepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice: and

+ the financial statements have peen prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accerdance with international
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK}) and applicable

iaw. 2ur responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial staterments section of our repert.

Woe are independent of the Group in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the UK. including the FRC's
Elhical Standard, and we have fulfilied our other ethical
respansibilities i accordance with thase requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have cbtainad is
sufficient and appropriate to prowvide a basis for our opinon,

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial staternants, we have concluded that
the directors’ use of the geing concern basis of accounting
In the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group
and parent company's abitity to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting included:

Ferforming & walkthrough of the Group's financial close
process, lo confirm cur understanding of management’s
going concern assessment process and engaging with
management early to ensure all key risk factors were
cansidered in their assessment.

+  Obtaining management’s going concern assessmant,
includieg the cashflow forecasts and covenant
calculations for the going concern period which covers
the periad to June 2023,

s Performing procedures to confirm the clerical accuracy
and appropriateness of the of the underlying madel,
The Group has modeiled a base case scenaric and
plausihle downsige scenario in their cashfiow forecast
and cavenant calculation.

+  Assessing the factors and assumptions included in each
modeled scenario,

+ Censidering the mitigating factors included in the
cashfiow forecasts and covenant calculations that are
within control of the Group. This includes review of the
Group's non-operating cash outflows and evaluating the
Group’s abiity to control these outflows as rmitigating
actions If required. We also venfied credit facilities
avallable to the Group.

+  Performing reverse stress testing in order to identify
what factors would tead to the Group utilising all liquidity
or breaching the financial covenant dunng the going
cancern period,

» Reading the Group’s going concern disclosures included
in the annual report in order to assess that the
disclosures were appropriate and in conformity with
the reporting standards.
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Sased on the wark we have performed, we have not
identifled any maternial uncertaintias relating to events
or conditions that, individuatty or collectively, may cast
significant doubt on the Group and parent company’s
abitity to continue as a going concern for a period of at
least 12 months from when the financial siatements are
authorised for 1ssue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report. Howevear. because not all future
events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is
not a guarantee as to the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.

Other information

The other information cemprises the information included

in the annual report set out on pages 4 to 24, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’'s report therean, The
directors are responsible for the other information contained
within the annual report.

Our apmion on the financial statements does not cover
the cther infoarmation and, excent to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, we do not exprass any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and,

in damng so. consider whether the other information 1s
materialty nconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise
appears to be matertally misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or gpparent material misstatements,
we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a

material misstatement in the financial staternents themselves.

If. based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of the other information,.
we are required 1o report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

In our opinton, based on the wark undertaken in the course of
the audit:

» theinformation given in the strategic report and the
directors' report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with
the financial statements; and the strategic report and
directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirernents.

Matters on which we are required to report
by exception

in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the
Group and the parent company and its environment obtained
in the course of the audit, we have not identified material
rmisstatements in the strategic report or directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters
in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion:

» adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the
narent campany. or returns adeguate for our audit have
not been receved from branches not visited by us; or

»  the parent company financal statements are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns: or

v certan disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by
law are not made; or

« we have not received all the information and explanations
we reguire for our audht.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities
statement set out on page 22. the directors are responsible
far the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

in preparing the financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's and the parent
company's akility to continue as a going concern, disclosimg.
as applicable, matters related to going concern andg using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do sc.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

Cur objectives are to obtain reasonabie assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
matenal misstaterment, whether due to fraud or error, and o
Issue an audrtor's report that mcludes cur opinion.



Reasonable assurance 1s a high leve} of assurance, but 1s not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UKD will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Missiaternents can arise from fraud or errar and are
considered material ff, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisians of users taken on the pasis of these financial
statemeants.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered
capahle of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irreqularities, including fraud, are instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations. We design pracedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect
irregular:ties, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a
materiai misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk

of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve deliberate concealment by, for examiple, forgery or
intenticnal misrepresentations, or through callusion. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irrequlanties, including fraud 1s detailed below. However, the
primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of
fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the
entity and management.

Qur approach was as follows:

s We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory
frameworks that are applicable to the Group and parent
company and determined that the most significant are
those that relate to the reporting framework (1AS. FRS
101 and the Companies Act 2006), drect and indirect tax
compliance regulations in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates and Miscellaneous Reperting Regulations
2018. In addition, the Group nas to comply with laws and
regulations relating to domestic and overseas operations.
including money laundering reg.jations. health and
safety, employment law, data protection and anti-bribery
and corryption,

»  We understood how the Group is complying with those
frameworks by making enquiries of management.
internal audit and internal legal counsel to understand
how the Greup maintains and communicates its policies
and procedures In these areas. We corrcbarated
our enguiries through our review of board minutes.
inspection of internal audit reports and papers provided
to the Audit Committee throughout the year, review
of correspondence with relevant authorities, as well
as consideration of the results of our audit procedures
across the Group to either carroborate our findings or
provide contrary evidence which was followed up.

« Based on this understanding we designed our audit
procedures to identify noncompliance with such laws and
regutations. Our procedures involved discussions with
management and internal legal counse! to assess and
understand the imphcations on our audit procedures.
testing of journals identified by specific risk critera
and tracing legal expenses incurred back to supporting
decumentation which describes the matter being
invoiced to ensure any other instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations are identified which were not
dentified through our enguiries wein the management.
We also circulated {ogal confirmations to the external
legal counsel,

iNDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

+  Assessing the susceptibility of the Group's financial
statements to material misstaternent, including how
fraud might occur by meeting with management within
various parts of the business to understand where they
considered there is susceptiblity to fraud. We made
inquiries with the Head of Legal to identify and assess any
whistle blowing incidences which could have a financial
reporting impact,

+  After completing these inquiries and identifying the
Group's employee bonus plan as a potential fraud
incentive we concluded that revenue was susceptible to
frand via management overriding controls. This relates
to the recognition of revenue on fixed price and capped
time and material contracts which are apen at year end.
In addition, there 1s 8 risk of management override in
all revenue streams through manual journal entries and
cut-off of subcontractor costs. We also noted that the
employee bonus pian was based on a pre-exceptional
cost measure such that this created a risk of fraud around
the treatment and classification of exceptional costs.

*  To address the identified fraud risks, we incorporated
data analytics into aur testing of manual journals.
including segregation of duties and into our testing of
revenue recognition, with particular focus on journats
around year end. We tested specific transactions hack
to source documentation to ensure that these have vakd
business purpose. We also reviewed material customer
contracts to verify revenue was recognized in accordance
with the agreement. We also assessed items identified by
management as exceptional costs as to whether they are
accounted for in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements 15 located on the Financial
Reporting Council's website at httos.//www. fre.org. uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor's report.

Use of our report

This report 1s made solely to the company’s members,

as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the company's members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and far no other purpose, To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume respansibility
to anyone ather than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinions we have formed.

Christabel Cowling (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP. Statutory Auditor
Leads. UK

8 April 2022
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the period ended 31 December 2021

2021
- _ ) i Note Em

Revenue
Fee incame 4 588.8
Project costs recharged o ] - _ L 4 88.0
Revenue 4 6/6.8
Personnel and direct costs 5 (469.1)
Exceptional personnel and direct costs _ _ o o 6 _ (192.9)
Gross profit 14.8
Other administrative expenses (96.5)
Other operating income 71 0.1
Exceptional administrative costs 5 (8.4)
Other exceptional income - o o ~ B 15
Operating loss _ o i o 72 (88.5)
Net finance costs B 8 . {138.5)
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (227.0)
Texation o - 4 o B 9 (37.1)
Loss for the financial period ) . N (264.1)
Adjusted EBITDA" - B & _ 175.4

The azcompanying hotes are as intagral cart of the “nanzal statements.

0. Adustad EBITDA 5 ooerat.ng profit hetare wrerest, taxation, depregat.on, amartisation and exceptional ems. A recencibation botween cperating prifit and
athuston EBITOA 5 praveded mnate &,



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
for the period ended 31 December 2021

Loss for the financial period

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified te profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Actuarial loss recognised on defined benefit pension arrangements

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or lass in subseguent periods:

Exchange difference on retranslation of net assets and results of overseas subsidiaries

2021
Note! ) Em

{264.1)

21 0.6
) (264.7)

0.1

Total comprehensive loss relating to the period

The accompanying notes are ar inteqgral cart of the finannal statements

0.1

(264.6)
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Consolidated statement of financial position

at 31 December 2021

202
Note £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill G 1.035.0
Other intangible assets 10 £669.3
Property, plant and eguipment il 28.1
Right-of-use assets i2 50.0
Ueterred tax assets 9 2.4
Other non-current assets ) 13
_ ~ ~ 1,786.1
Current assets
Trade receivables 4 99.4
Contract assets 4 316
Other current assets 15 19.7
Cash and cash equivalents _ _ 183.2
) . R 3339
Total assets ~ 2,120.0
Current liabilities
Trade and other current fiabilities 16 (222.5)
Contract liabilities 4 (30.3)
Lease liabilities 12 9.h
Current tax liabilities ) ) (0.8}
. o _ . N B - (263.3)
Net current assets 70.6
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 18 {1.921.4)
Lease liabilities 12 41.0)
Pension and other post-employment labilities 21 (5.0)
Deferred tax ligbilities 9 (139.1)
Other non-current liabilities o _ _ 34
. - B (2,110.5)
Total liabilities . ) B o _ - (2,373.8)
Net liabilities o ~ ) . (253.8)
Equity
Share capital 19 2.3
Share premium 19 91
Own shares reserve 19 (1.1}
Foreign currency translation reserve 18 0.1
Retained earnings . o (264.2)
(253.8)

Total equity

Thea sccompangying notes are ar integral eart of the * nancial statemants.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

1ssue by the board of directors on 8 April 2022,

£ B

Ker Toombs
Chief Execubtive Officer

PA Consulting Group Limited
Company nurnber: 13035335



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

for the period ended 31 December 2021

Foreign
Own  currency
Share Share share franstation Retained
capital premium reserye reservg  earpings Tota!
MNaote fm £m £m £m £m £m
Total comprehensive loss for the period
Loss for the financial year - - - - {264.1) (204.1)
Actuarial luss recognised on defined benefit
pension arrangements 21 - - - - 0.8 (0.8)
Exchange difference on retranslation of net assets
and results of overseas subsidiaries - - - 0.1 - G.1
Total comprehensive loss - - - 0.1 2647 (264.6)
Issue of ordinary shares 19 2.3 9.1 - - 11.4
Share-based payments - - - 0.5 0.5
Own shares acquired by the employee trust 9 - - (1.1} - B - (1.1
At 31 December 2021 23 9.1 (1 01 (264.2) (253.8)

The accompanving nates are arintegral cart of tne "nancial statements,
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

for the period ended 31 December 2021

202
. ) . Note' Em
Operating loss 12 (88.5)
Add back:
Amertisation of intangible fixed assets 6, 72,10 534
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment g,722.N 4.2
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6,72.12 6.5
Net foreign exchange differences 0.6
Share-based payment expense . ) Q.5
Cperating cash flows before movernents in working capital {24.5)
Decrease in trade and other receivables and contract assets {19.9)
Increase in trade and other payables and contract fiabilities o B _ 45
Operating cash tlows before payments for taxes (39.9)
Taxation paid . ~ (18.6)
Net cash flows from operating activities 6.1 (58.5)
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment il (4.6)
Purchase of acquired intangible assets 10 (1.8)
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings (net of cash acquired) 2512 (1,256.3)
Interest received L ~ ~ 8 0.1
Net cash flow from investing activities (1,262,6)
Financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares 19.11 8.9
Issue of preference shares 18, 25 892.5
Drawdown of senior debt 8 650.0
Repayment of lease principal 12 7.3
Interest paid (14.1)
Net cash from (purchase)/sale of own shares (25.9)
Staff loans issued . . 0.1
Net cash flow from financing activities 3 1,504.2
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents o L . 1ss1
Net foreigh exchange difference B L __ 01
183.2

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

“he actomparving noter arg o nlzgral tadt of he Snanaalstalementis.

Cash and cash equivalents include £0.2 million held by the Group's



NOTES TC THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

General information

PA Consulting Group Limited is a limited liability company
incorgorated in England. The reqistered office 1s
10 Bressenden Piace, Londan, SW1E 5DN.

PA Consulting Group is an innovation ang transformation
consultancy headuuartered in London, UK.

The company was incorporated on 20 November 2020,

The reporting period covered is from the Incorporation date
of 20 Naovember 2020 ta 31 Decermnber 2021, Consequently,
no financial comparatives are presented.

Statement of compliance

The Group's financial statements have heer prepared

in compliance with International Accounting Standards

in conformity with the requirements of the Companies

Act 2006 as it epphes to the finanaial statements of the Group
for the period from incorporat:on an 20 November 2020 to
31 December 2021.

These are the first financial statements of the Group prepared
in accordance with International Accounting Standards

as issued by the International Accounting Standards

Board (IASB).

The principal accounting policies used in preparing these
fingncial statements are set out below, These policies have
bean consistently applied to the period presented in dealing
with items that are considered material in relation to the
finantial statements.

in preparing financial statements, management develops
estimates and judgements triat affect the reported amount
of assets and liabilities, revenues and costs, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financiatl statements. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or condit:ons.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have bheen prepared under the
historical cost canvention, except for pension assets
and ligbilities and revaluation to fair value of certain
financial instruments, business combination assets and
contingent consideration.

The financial statements are resented in pounds sterfing,
and untess otherwise indwated, values are presented in
milion pounds (Cm) rounded to ane deamal place,

Going concern

As required by company legislation. the directors are
responsible for reviewing and concluding that the use of

the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate for

the Group. In consideration of this, the directors have taken
into account short and mid-term trading and cash forecasts
covering the period to June 2023, potential glabal or
economic impacts on the numbers included in those forecasts
and the availability of funding sources for the Group.

The hase forecasts used as part of the review align with the
Board-approved budget and long-term plan and show
operating cashflow to be strong throughout. Consideration
has been given to any potential downside from the current
Ukrane-Russia conflict and the ircreasing inflationary
environment in the UK (the Group's predominant geagraphy).

The Group does not operate in either the (Ukraine or Russian
territories and therefare the conflict 1s not expected to create
a significant disruption to the current business model. A
forecast scenario representing a reasonable increase to costs
and prices has been prepared and reviewed to understand
the potential impact on the business from continued infation
which demonstrated that a sufficent amount ot operational
cash headroom is available to the Group to tolerate such
increases. The Group's busmess model has meant that
historically the Group is self-funding from its operating cash
generation. Trading and cash conversion has mostly been
unaffected by the economic uncertainty in the fast two years
which has shown that this business model is robust and
flexibie to adapt to external volatility.

The Group’s financing 1s @ combination of debt and cast on
hand, with the debt being funded from the Group's majorty
investor, Jacoks Engineenng Group Inc. The maturities on
these debt instruments are well beyond 12 monihs and
include an undrawn £50 million revolving credit facility which
provides additional financing capacity shouid it be required.
There are no financial covenants that would cause default
during the perwod under consideration, The dirsctors believe
these sources provide the Group with access to sufficient
lenger-term funding and the ultimate iender has appropriate
backing and headroom to support the lending for the
foresecable future.

Having due regard to these matters, the directors are
satisfied that the Group has sufficient resources and iguidity
to continue to trade for the foreseeable future and conclude
that there is no material uncertainty around the Group’s
ability to continue as a gaing concern.
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2. Principal accounting policies

21 Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements include the resuits, frnancial
position and cash flows of PA Consulting Group Limited {(the
‘Company’) and all of its subsidiary undertakings (together,
the 'Group’). Subsidiary undertakings are those entities
contralled diractly or mdwectly by the Company. Controf
arises when the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtamn
benefits from its activities,

The financial statements of the subsidiaries as consolidated
in the Group financial statements have been prepared from
the date of the acquisition of the PA Consulting Group to

21 December 2021, using consistent accounting policies.
Businesses acquired or disposed during the period are
accounted for using acauisition method principles from. ar
up to, the date control passed. Intra-Group transactions and
balances are eliminated on consolidation. All subsidiaries use
uniform accounting pelicies for like transactions and other
events and simifar circumstances.

2.2 Employee benefit trust

The Groug’s trust is a separately administered discretionary
trusts for the benefit of employees. The trust is f'unded by
loans from the Graup, with s assets mainly comprising
shares in the parent of the Group, PA Consulting Group
Limited. The Group recognuses the assets and liabilities

of the trust in its own accounts because. although it is
administered by independent trustees and its assets are held
separately from those of the Group, in practice the Group's
recomrmendations o how the assets are used for the benefii
of employees are normally followed,

The carrying vaiue of the Company’s ordinary shares
heid by the trust is recorded as a deduction in arriving at
shareholders’ funds until such time as the shares transfer
to employees.

Consideration received for the sale of such shares is also
recognised in shareholders’ funds, with any difference
pbetween the proceeds from sale and the carrying value taken
to the profit and loss reserve. No gain or 10ss is recognised
on the purchase. sale or cancellation of equity shares. The
Company’s preference shares held by the trust are recorded
as a deduction against inancial liabkilities at amortised cost.

2.3 Foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each Group entity is the currency
of the primary economic environment in which each

entity operates, The consolidated financlal statements are
presented in sterfing, which is the Company’s functional and
oresentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the relevant
functionat currency of the entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities dencminated in foreign currencies are transiated

at rates ruling at the statement of financial pasition date.
Such exchange differences are mciuded in the Group income
statement within cther administrative expenses.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates as at the dates of the initia! transacticns.

Consolidation

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the resuits and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which have the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency
other than sterling are translated into sterling as follows:

« assetfs and habilities within the statement of financial
position are translated at the exchange rate at the
financial position date

» income and expenses within the income statement are
transiated at exchange rates approximating to the rates
ruling at the dates transactions occurrad.

The foreign exchange differences arising on retransiation
of foreign entities are recognised in the Group's foreign
currency translation reserve,

24 Revenue

Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration
received or raceivabie for consulting services on each client
assignment pravided during the peried, including expenses
and disbursements but excluding value added tax and other
similar sales taxes. Expenses and disbursements include
mileage, accommodation, materials and subcentractor fees.

For each client assignment, the Group cansiders whather
there are promises in the contract that are separate
performance obligations to which a portion of the
transaction price needs to be allocated. In determining the
transaction price for each client assigriment, the Group
cansiders the effects of variable consideration. The Groug
does not have client contracts with significant financing
components or non-cash consideration,

Revenue from time and materials contracts is recognised
as the services are provided on the basis of time worked
at an hourly or daily rate and as direct expenses and
disbursements ara incurred.



For fixed-price contracts, provided the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date, revenue is recognised over the contract term using the
percentage of complethion method (nput method). An input
method has been selected as there is a direct relationship
between the Group's effart, as measured by the Group's costs
incurred, and the transfer of service to the customer.

The stage of completion of a fixed-pricad contract is
measured as the proportion that costs incurred for work
performed {0 date bear to the estimated tatal costs of the
contract. Estimated total costs of the contract {primarily
consuitant time) are reviewed reqularly and. where
necessary, revised.

{f the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled in exchange for services rendered ta the
client. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant reversal in the cumulative amount of revenue
racognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
of the variable consideration is subsequently resaived. The
Group's gain share centracts are treated under the variable
revenue model.

Ng revenue i1s recagnised if there are significant uncertamties
regarding recovery of the consideration due or associated
costs. An expected foss on a contract is recognsed
imimediately in the Group income statement.

For the majority of contracts, revenue 1s recognised over ime
as services are performed. The Group has client contracts
that require payrments in advance of services performed. This
resylts in contract habihty halances, and client cantracts that
require payment after services are performed, resulting in
contract asset balances.

25 Employee benefits

251 Defined benefit plans

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit
pians is determined separately far each plan using the
proected unit credit method. This attributes entitlerment to
benefits to the current period (to determine current service
cost) and to the current and prior periods (to determine the
present value of defined benefit opligations) and is hased
on actuarial advice. When a settleament, amendment or
curtailment occurs, the change in the present value of the
scheme liabilities and the fair value of the plan assets reflects
the gain or loss that is recognised in the income statement
during the period in which 1t occurs.

NOTES TC THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The net interest element is determined by multiplying the
net defined benefit llability. by the discount rate at the starl
of the pericd. and taking mto account any changes in the
net defined benefit hability during the period as a result

ot contribution and benefit payments. The net interest 1s
recogrised in nrofit or loss as other finance revenue or cost.

Rermeasuraments, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the
effect of the asset calling and the return on the net defined
benefit liability (excluding amounts inciuded in net interost),
are recognised immediatety in other comprehensive income
in the perod in which they occur, Remeasurements are not
reclassified to the Income staternent in subsequent neriods.

The defined net henaht pension asset or lighility 1n the
statement of financial position comprises the total for each
ptan of the present value of the defined benelii obligation,
{using a discount rate hased on high-quality corporate
bonds) less the fair value of plan assets out of which the
obligations are to be settled directly. Fair value 1s based
on market price information and in the case of quoted
securiies, 15 the published nd price. The value of a net
pension benefit asset is imited ta the amount that may be
recovered either through reduced contributions or agreed
refunds fram the scheme,

2.5.2 Defined contribution plans

Contributions to defined contnbution schemes are
recognised in the income statement in the period in which
they becoma payable.

253 Deferred employee remuneration

An element of all empioyee remuneration is contingent upon
Greup and personal performance,

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for deferred
employee remuneration based ¢n a formula that takes into
cansideration the Group's EBITDA after certain adjustments.
The Group recognises deferred employee remuneration
liabilities and expenses where there is a past practice

that has created a constructive obligation or thereis a
contractual obhgation.

254 Short-term compensated absences

The Group recognises the expected cost of accumulating
compensated absences, primarily annual leave, when the
employees render service that increases their entitlement to
future compensated abserces,
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2.6 Research and development

Research expenditure is written off to the income statement
in the period in which 1t is incurred, Development expenditure
15 written off in the same way. unless the directors are
satisfied that it is probable that the expected future economic
benefits attributable to the intangible asset created wiil

flow ta the Group and the cost of the intangible asset can

be measured reliably. Where these criteria are met, the
expenditure is deferred and amortised over the period during
which the Group 1s expected to benefit.

27 Leases

Definition of a lease

At inception of a cantract, the Group assesses wihether

a cantract is, or contams, a lease, A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time 10 exchange

for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liahility at the lease commencement date.

2.7.1 Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset 15 initiglly ieasured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for
any lease payments made at, or before. the commencement
date, plus any nitial direct costs incurred and an estimate of
custs to disimantle and remove the undarlying asset, or to
restare the underlying asset, or the site on which it s lecated,
{ess any lease incentives receved.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using

the straight-line method from the commencement date to
the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use
asset, or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives
are determined on the same basis as those of property and
equipment. it addilion, the right-of-use asset is periadicafly
reduced by imparrment losses, If any, and adjusted for certain
remeasurements of the lease liability.

2.7.2 Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments for the lease term that are not paid
at the commencement date. discounted using the interost
rate implicit in the lease, or if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate,

Lease payments comprise fixed payments, variable
payments dependent cn an index or a rate and amounts
expected to be paid under a residuat vatue guarantee,

The iease term is from the commencement date through to
the end of the contracted initial lease duration except where
the Group has an option to terminate or extend the term
and 1s reasonably certain tg exercise that option. In this case
the lease term will be restricted to the termination date or
extended to :nclude the extension poriod.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective mterest method. It s remeasured when
there is a modification, a change in the lease term. a change
i the lease payments {e.g. from resetting an index or rate).
or & change in the assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

2373 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption and the leases of low-value assets recognition
exemgtion. As a result, the Group recognises lease payments
on short-term leases (leases expiring within 12 manths of
the commencement date) and leases of low-value assets
{underlying asset value less than $5,000) on a straight-lne
basis over the lease term.

2.8 Share-based payments

Equity-settied share-based payments to emplovees and
others providing similar services to the Group are measured
at the fair value of the equity nstruments at the grant date.
The fair value excludes the eftect of service and non-market-
hased vesting conditions.

Details regarding the determination of the fair value of
equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in note
20. The fair value determined al the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straightling basis over the vesting period (the expense being
recorded within the Group’s employment costs together
with a corresponding increase in reserves), based op the
Group’s estimate of the number of equity instruments that
witl eventually vest, At each reporting date, the Group revises
its estimate ¢f the number of equity instruments expected to
vest as a result of the effect of service or non-market-bhased
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the onginal
estimates, if any, is recognised In employrment costs in the
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects

the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment

to reserves.



No expense is recognised for awards that de not ultimately
vest due to service or non-market based conditions not
being mef.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair value
of the goods or services recelved, except where that fair
value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are
measured at the far velue of the equity mstruments granted,
measured at the date the entity obtains the goed, or the
counterparty renders the service.

For cash-settled share-basad payments, the fair vaiue

is expensed over the period until the vesting date with
recognition of a corresponding hiability. The fair value 1s
initially determined at the grant date but at each subsequent
reporting date until the liability 1s settied. and at the date of
settlement, the fair value of the liabihty is remeasured, with
any changes in fair value recognised in employment costs in
the profit or loss for the year.

2.9 Interest income and expense

interest income and expense is accrued on a time basis by
reference 1o the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicanle.

210 Alternative Performance Measure

The directors believe that certan agjusted financ:al measures
provide additional useful information for shareholders an the
underlying performance of the business to aid comparability
between reparting periods. These adjusted measures remove
items which by virtug of their size or nature distort the
visibility of the continuing business performance.

The directors use Fee income (a subset of revenue) and
adjusted EBITDA as their primary internal income statement
performance measures, In the current year due to the one-cff
exceptional distribution made by the Group's EBT an adjusted
operating cashflow measure 15 also presented to better
reflect Lthe true operating cashffows of the business, {Detalls
are included in note &},

NOTES TO THE FINANCAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Tax

The tax charge comprises current tax payable and
deferred tax.

2.11.1  Current tax

The current tax charge represents an estimate of the
amounts payable t¢ tax authorities in respect of the Group’s
taxable profits and is based on an mterpretation of existing
tax laws, Taxable profit differs from profit before fax as
reported in the Group income statement as it excludes
certain items of income and expense that are taxable or
deductibie in other years or are never taxable or deductible.

2.11.2 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability
method, providing for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
nurposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes,

+  Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that
the directers consider that it is probable that there will
be suitable taxable profits from winch the furure reversal
of the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

*  Provision is made for deferred tax that would arise
on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to the
extent that, at the balance sheet date, dividends have
been accrued as receivable,

+  Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in
which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and
laws enacted. or substantively enacted, at the balance
sheet date.

» Deferred tax assels and liahilities are offset against each
other where there is ¢ legally enforceable right to set off
current taxation assets against current taxation liabilities
and it 15 the intantion to settle these on a net basis.
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212 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for by applying
the acauisition method.

The cost of a business combination is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred,
which 1s measured at acquisition date fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred
and included in exceptional items.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acguisition
date as a financiat lability. Contingent consideration is
measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes
in fair value recognised in profit ar loss.

On acgussition of a business, fair values are attriputed to the
identifiaible assets, liabilities and contingent lianihties unlass
the fair value cannot be measured reliably, in which case,
the value 1s incorporated n goodwill, Where the fair value of
contingent liabitties cannot he reliably measured, they are
disclosed on the same basis as other contingent lisbilities,

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is initiaily
measured at cost. beng the difference between the fair value
of the consideration paid and the fair value of the assets

and liabibties acquired. After initial recognition. goodwill ts
measured at cost less any accumulated imparrment fosses.
The Group has one cash-generating unit (CGUY, consultancy.
and goodwill 15 allocated to that CGU for impairment testing.
Gaodwilis assessed annuatly for impairment,

213 Intangible assets

Intangible assets include trade name, customer relationships,
capitalised development costs and investment in new
software,

The trade name and customer relationships agreements
were acguired as part of the Group's acquisition and are
classified separately from goodwill wihere the fair value can
be measured raliably on iitial recognition. subject to the
constraint that unless the asset has a readily ascertainable
market value, the fair value is lim:ted to an amount that
does not create or increase negative goodwill arising on
the acquisition.

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are
measured on inttial recognition at cost and eamortised over
the period during which the Group 15 expected to cenefit,

Software costs acquired as part of the Group'’s acguisition
represent the net book value on acquisition of costs of
development by an external company. The costs capitalised
during the period for investment in new software represent
costs of development by an external company during the
period, Software costs are amortised over a useful [ife of
three years.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense In the period in which it is incurred. An internatly-
generated intangible asset arising from development (or
from the devetopment phase of an internal project) is
recognised if, and only If, afi of the following conditions have
been demonstrated:

» the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale

« theintention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it

« the ability to use or sell the intangible asset

* how the intangibie asset will generate probable future
economic. benefits

« the availability of adecuate technical. financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sall
the intangible asset

« the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recegnised for internally-generated
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangibie asset first meets the
recagrition criterta listed above. Whera no internally
generated intangitle asset can be recognised. development
expenditure s recognised in profit or loss in the penod in
which it s incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. on the
same basis as Intangible assets that are acguired separately.
The useful life of the internal development costs capitalised
in the period has been estimated as three years and
amortisation will begin when the asseis are in use,



Intangible assets are amertised on a straight-iine basis cver
their estimated useful lives. The foliowing useful economic
lives are applied:

Asset category Useful ;conomic life

Software 3 yvears

Trademarks 20 years

Customer relationships 9to 11 years

internal development costs 3 years

The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for
imparment annually.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of
financial position at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Cost comprises purchase price after discounts
and rebates, plus all directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to working condition for 1ts intended use. Finance costs
are not capitalised and are expensed as incurred.

Depreciation is calculated so as te write off the cost, less
estimated residual value. on a straight-line basis over the
expected usetul econemic hives of the assets concarned.
Depreciation is charged on assets from the date in which
they are hrought into use, The following useful economic
lives are applied:

Asset category Useful economic m_‘é_—

Computer equipment 2105 years

Office furniture, eguipment 3t0 10 years

Freehold property 1 o 50 years

the remaining period of lease
unless the economic life of
the asset is determined to be
less than that of the ease

Leasehold improvements

The resigual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation
of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each
financial year end and adjusted prospectively. f appropr iate.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

Cashi and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
highly liquid deposits with a maturity of three months or less
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
subject to an msignificant risk of changes in value.

2.6 Contract balances

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs services for a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment 1s due, 3 contract assef 1s
recognised for the carned consideration,

Trade receivables

A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount

of consideration that is unconditional (i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of the
consideration is due) and the customer has been biiled for
that consideration. Refer to accounting policies of financial
assets in section 2.17.2 Financial assets — initial recognition
and subseguent measurament.

Contract liabilities

A contract Hiability is the obligation to transfer services to

a customer for which the Group has received consideration
{or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers
services 1o the customer, a contract hability 1s recognised
when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever
is eartfier). Contract Habilities are recoginised as revenue

when the Group satisfies its performance cbligation under
the contract.

217 Financial instruments

2.17.1 Classification

The Group's financial instruments are classified under the
following categories:

+ those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
thraugh other comprehensive income, or through profit
or lgss), and

*  those to be measured al amortised cost.
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The classitication depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of
the cash flows.

For an asset 1o be measured at amorhised cost, it needs 1o
give rise 10 cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (SPPI} oh the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measurec at fair value through profit or loss
{FVTPL) irrespective of the businegss model.

Financial habilitics are classilied as measured at amortised
cast or (FVTPL). A financial lrabihity is classified as at FVTPL

it it 1s classified as held-for-trading. it s a derivative orit is
gesignated as such on jnitial recognition. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are measured at Tair value, and net gaing and

losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit
or loss. Other financial hahilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.17.2 Financial assets

Initial recognition

The Group measures financial assets initially at far value
plus. In the case of a fiinancial asset not classified as at
FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisttion of the financial asset.

Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are
expensed in profit of loss.

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) methed and
are subject to impairment, Gains and losses are recoqnrised
in profit ¢r loss when the asset «s derecogrised, maodified or
impatred. The Group's financial assets at amortised

cost include trade receivables, and loan to an associate

and loan to a director included under other non-current
firancial assets.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will

either be recorded in profit or loss, or other comprehersive
income depending oh the nature of the asset and the Group's
election at recognition;

« for mvestments in debt instruments, this will depend on
the busingss model in which the investment is held

= forinvestments in equity instruments, this will depend on
whether the Company has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income, otherwise gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part ¢f a group aof similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (1.2. removed from the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the nghts to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired, or

» the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows frum the asset, or has assumed an abligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and either

(a) the Group has transferred substantiatly all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or

(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered nto a pass-through
arraingement. it evaluates if. and to what extent, it has
retained the nisks and rewards of ownership.

When it has neither transferred nor retained substantialiy ali
of the risks and rewards of the assel. nor transferrad control
ot the asset, the Group continues to recoanise the transferred
assef to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recagnises an assoctated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated lisbility are measurad on
a basis that reflects the rights and chligations that the Groun
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guaraniee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be reqguired
to repay.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-iooking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised
cost ana fair value through other comprehensive iIncome.
The impairment methodclogy applied depends on whether
there has been a significant ncrease in credit risk,

For irade receivables and contract assets only, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
iritial recognition of the receivables.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past gue. However, in
certain cases, the Groug may also consider a financial

asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the cutstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A fiancial asset

Is whitten off when there s no reasonable expeciation of
racovering the contractual cash fiows,



2.17.3  Financiat liabilities

Initiai recognition

All financial iabilities are recagnised inttially at fair value
and. in the case of leans and borrowings and payables,

net of directly attributable transaction costs. The Group's
financial habihties include trade and other nayables, loans
and borrowings including lease habilities. the Group's 1ssued
preference shares, contingent consideration and derivative
financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement

The Group’s financial Habilities are mainty classified as
measured at amortised cost.

After initial recognition, these Lanilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the EIR methed. Gains

and losses are recoghised in profit or foss when the fiabilities
are derecognised, as well as through the EIR amorlisation
process. Amortised cost s calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integrat part of the EIR.

The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are those which are incurred
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term, This
category also includes gervative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships. See section
2.17.4 Bernivative instruments.

Derecognition

A financial Babihty is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability Is discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial Hability is replaced by another
from the sarme lender on substanttally different terms, or the
terms of an existing habidity are substantially madified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition
of the original liahility and the recognition of a new liability.
The dhfference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised In the statement of profit or joss.

2.17.4  Derivative instruments
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date

a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting
peticd. The accounting for suhsequent changes in fair

value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being
hedged and the type of hedge relationship designated (cash
flow hedge, fair value hedge or hedges of a net investment in
a forelgn operation),

NOTES TC THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For thase derivatives to be designated as a hedging
instrument, the Group documents at the inception of the
hedging transaction the economic relationship between the
hedging instrument and hedged item, including whether the
hedaing instrument is expected [0 offset changes in cash flows
of hedged 1tems. The Group documents its risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions at the inception of each hedge telationship.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that
does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised
immeadiately in profit or loss. The movement in the Group's
forward currency contracts are recognised in administrative
axpenses, and the movement on the interest rate swap Is
recognised in finance income.

2.8 Provisions for liabilities

The Group recognises a provision when it has a present legal
or conhstructive ghligation as a result of a past event and it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefit will be required
to settle that ohligation. Provisions are measured at the
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the ohligation at the statement of financial position date.

219 Share capital

Issued share capital s classihiad as equity instruments
or financial liabilities according to the substance of the
contractual arrangement entered into.

2.19.1 Preference shares

The liability for the preference shares arises because
their rights oblige the Company to pay accrued dividends
(1Z per cent) andt capital in certain events, As g result, the
preference shares are recorded as financial liabitities.

2.18.2 Eguity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
intergst in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabifities. Equity instruments issted by the Company are
recorded as the proceeds received net of direct ssue costs,
with the nominal value of the instrument credited to share
capital and the excess to the share pramium account.

All classes of erdinary shares of the Company meet the
definition of an equity Insttument and are recorded as such.
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2.20 Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reascnable assurance that the Group will comply with the
cenditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received. Government grants are recognised in profit or
Ioss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended ta campensate. Government grants
that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recogmised in profit of loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

2.21 New and amended standards
and interpretations

At the date of authornisation of these finangial statements, the
Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS
Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective.
They are rot expected to have a significant impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements:

IFRS 17 insurance Contracts

Classification of liabilittes a3 current or non-rurrant
{Amendments 1o 1AS 1)

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
i IFRS 3

Property, Prant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended
Use {Amendments to 1AS 165

Onerous Contracts - Costs of Fulfilling a Contract
(Amendments to AS 37)

Financial Instruments - Fees :n the "310 per cent’ test for
daerecognition of fimancial liabihties

(Amendiments to IFRS 9)

Taxation in fair value measurements
(Amendments to IAS 41)

Defuution of accounting estimates (Amendments to
IAS 8)

Disclosure of accounting policies (Amendments to 1AS 1
and IFRS Practice Statement 2)

Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from
a single transactior (Amendments to tAS 12).



3. Critical accounting judgements
and estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires
management to make judgernents, estimates and
assumptions in the application of accounting policies that
affect reported amaounts of assets and liahilities, iIncome and
expenses. The Group hiases its estimates and judgements on
historical experience and other factors deemed reasonable
under the circumstances, includmg any expectations of future
events, Actual results may differ from these estimates, The
estimates and judgemants considerad to he significant are
detailed below,

3. Revenue from fixed price contracts

Revanue from fixed price contracts is recognised by reference
to management's judgement of the stage of completion

of the contract at the end of the reporting peried and
includes an estimate of the costs to complete the contract.
Performance over the remaining contract term may result

in revised estimates of turnover and costs with a cumulative
adjustment to revenue and profil reported in future periods,
Revenue recogrised from fixed price contracts 1s disclosed

In nete 4.

3.2 Leases

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and
termination options

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable
ferm of the lease, together with any periods covered by an
option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be
exercised or any periods covered by an ¢gption to terminate
the leasa If it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group has several lease contracts that inciude extension
and termination opticns. In evatuating whether it is
reasonably certam to exercise an option, the Group considers
the factors that creale an economuc incentive Lo exercise,

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group included the renewal period as part of the lease
term for property ieases with shorter non-cancellable periods
(up to 10 years) in the locations cantributing a significant
portion of the Group’s perfarmance. Renewal periods were
net included for leases in other geographical lacations except
where the Group's real estate team identify the local property
market as restricted.

The Group typically ieases motor vehicies for less than five
years and hence has not included any renewal options within
the lease term.

Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

Where the Group cannot readily determine the inferest rate
mplicit i its leases, it uses its incremental borrowing rate
{IBR) to measure the relaled fease liabilities. Establishing

an appropriate IBR requires estimation when no observabie
rates are avalable or when they need to be adjusted to refiect
the specific terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market risk-free rates) as the basis and adjusts these to
take into consideration entity-specific status (such as the
supsidiary’s stand-alone credit raling).

The impact of applying these estimates is inciuded in the
lease values included th note 12.

33 Impairment of intangible assets

The Group has a significant level of mtangibie assets,
inchuding goodwill. Goodwill requires anrual impairment
testing whereas the iIntangible assets with a limited life,
trademark and customer relgtionships. only need to he
formally assessed if indicators of impairment are identified.

Assessing the appropriateness of the carrying value is based
on estimating the value in use of infangible assets which

is determined from reference to the Group’s enterprise
value and is dependent on assumptions of future trading
growth, profitability and cash flows. Details of the Group's
impatrment review are included in note 10.
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3.4 Share-based payments

Equity-settied share awards are recognised as an expense
hased on their fair value at date of grant. The fair value of
equity-settled awards is estimated through the use of an
option pricing medel which reguires inputs such as the share
price, risk-free mterest rate, ekpected dividends, expected
volatiiity and the expected option life. Whilst most of

these inputs can be based to a certain extent on historical
factual data for shares that are freely traded, as the Group’s
Management Equity Plan shares are not traded, alternative
methods which are more judgemental are required to abtain
certain of the input vaiues. the most significant being the
share price/equity value (derived from the Group's deemed
enterprise value) and volatiity,

The Group's eguity value has been assessed using the
recent acquisition price as an observalle market transaction
occurning in close proximity to the award grant date, in
subsequent years an estimaticn of equity value will be
derived using third party expert valuations which rely

on inputs such as management’s performance forecasts

and application of an appropriate discount factor. If these
foracasis were overly aggressive or prudent, the resulting
fair value and related share-based payment charge to be
recognised could be higher or lower.

As there iy insufficient historicat share price data to calculate
an appropriate company-specific valatihty, an estimation,
Jsing a selection of comparable listed companies, is required.
The choice of companies included and methodology adopted
to calculate volatihty can mifluence the volatibty cutcomes
and in turn, the resulting faw value and related charge.

The resulting cost recagnised in profit/(ioss) is based on
applying the fair value to the number of awards expected
to vest, As the anly performance criteria is continued
employment, the vesting judgement appliad is in relation to
the level of leavers (and therefore award lapses) expected
cduring the vesting period. Should the level of lapses be
different from the imitial estimated level, the charge booked
will be adjusted to reflect the actual lapse level which may
iead to a higher or lower charge.

The input values used in the fair value model and resulting
imcome statement charge are included in note 20.

3.5 Business Combinations and goodwill

On the acqursttion of a business, farr values are attributed to
the identifiable assets and liabilifies and contingent liabilities
unless the faiy value cannot be measured rehably, in which
case the value is subsunied into goodwill,

Attributing fair values is a kay judgement. Goodwill 1s the
difference between the fair value of the consideration and the
fair value of net assats acauired, Fair value is the price that
would be received to selt an asset or pay for a liability in an
arderly transaction at the date of acquisition. The price may
be directly observable but, in most cases. 1s estimated using
valuation fechniques. Judgement 1s required in selecting an
appropriate valuation methodology depending on the asset
identified.

The basis for valuation is normally a management forecast
of perfarmance and cashffow. excluding any company-
specific deal synergies. which inherently contain a level of
subjectivity and selection and application of an appropriate
discount rate to determine the present value of the stream
of earnings. Further judgements have heen apphed far
specific identified intanginle assets, including for customer
relationships, an estimation of expected growth and sttrition
rates and for trade name, seiection of an appropriate rayalty
rate. Intangible asset values resulting from applying these
judgements are inciuded in note 25.



4. Revenue from contracts with customers

4. Disaggregation of revenue

Allrevenue is derived fram the provision of consulting services:

NOTES 7O THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

__For the period ended 31 December 2021

Project costs

Consultant fees recharged Total
_ o £m Em _Em
Geographical markets, based on the billing location of the client
UK 452.3 79.9 5322
Americas 727 4.7 76.9
Scandinavia 46.7 2.9 49.6
Europe 15.5 0.4 159
Asia Pacific ~ ~ o 16 06 2.2
Total revenue from contracts with customers ~ 588.8 88.0 £76.8
Contract duration
One year or less 392.4 47.2 439.6
QOver one year 196.4 408 237.2
Total revenue from contracts with customers 588.8 88.0 676.8

Revenue from time and matenals, fixeg-price and milestone contracts of £674.8 milllon was recognised on the basis of ime
wiorked and expenses incurred. For time and materials contracls, revenue directly reflects time worked and expenses inclrred;
for fixed-price and milestone contracts, revenue was recagmsed through the percentage completion method using the time

worked and expenses mcurred as a proportion of the estimated total costs of the contract. Gain share contract revenue of

£2.0 mullion was recogrised at a pont in time,
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4.2 Trade receivables and other contract balances

The following Lable provides information about receivables. contract assets and contract liabifities from contracts with
customers. Contract assets relate to the Group's nghts to consideration for work completed hut not billed at the reporting
date. Contract lizhilities relate to advance consideration received from customers.

2021

B . L Note ) £m

Trade receivables 427 99.4
Contract assets 422 31.6
Contract liabilities B ] . B 423 (30.3)

4.2.1 Trade receivables

Trade receivahiles are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 to 90 days. In 2021, £0.7 million was recogmised as
nrovision for expected cradit losses an trade recevabies.

2021
Gross Provision for
carrying expected
amount credit losses

_ i} . o Em Em
Current {not past due) 80.8 -
1-30 days past due 14.9 -
31-60 days past due 25 -
61-90 days past due 0.6 -
91-180 days past due 0.6 -
More than 180 days past due - -
Credit-impaired trade receivables ~ _ . 0.7 {07
) _ o . 1001 @D

. - - , . o

Movement on expected credit loss on trade receivables B W B £m
Acquired on subsidiary acquisiticn (2.1>
Net remeasurement of expected credit loss allowance 0.8
Amounts written off e 0.6

At 31 December } {07




4,22 Contract assets

NOTES TC THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2021
o ~ £m
Gross tarrying amount 31.7
Expected credit loss aliowance _ o o (0.1
Net contract asset _ 316

2021
Movement on contract assets £m
Acquired on subsidiary acquisition 42,5
Amounts billed in the period (42.0)
Increases as a result of services performed but not invoiced during the period 313
Movement in provision and amounts written off in the period o (0.2)
At 31 December 31.6

The amounts writter off in the period relate to changes in estimates of the stage of completion of fixed price nrojects and not
customer default. This is therefore not representative of the expected credit losses on contract assets. As at 31 December,
contract assets include £19.7 miilion unbilled accounts receivable. The right to payment for the unbilied accounts receivable is

condifional only oh the passage of time,

4.23 Contract liabilities

. 21
Movement on contract liabilities 22m
Acquired on subsidiary acquisition (28.3)
Increases due to invoicing, excluding amounts recognised as revenue during the period (29.4)
Revenye recognised that was included in the contract liability balance acquired on subsidiary acquisition 27.4
At 31 December {30.3)

4.3 Contracted performance obligations

The Group has taken advantags of the practical expedient provided by IFRS 15 paragraph 121 to not disclose:

a. perfarmance obligations that are part of 2 contract that has an onginal expacted duration of ene year or less: and

h. performance obligations from contracts where the Group has the right to consideration in an amecunt that corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance completed to date.

In the directors’ opinion the performance obligations that do net meet either of the practical expedient criteriz are not material

and are therefore not disclosed.
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5. Employee information

5.1 Employee numbers

The average monthly number of people employed by the Group during the period was:

2021
. . - _ . Number
Consultants 2,907
Support ) e . - — 646
Total average number of employees s . _ o 3,553
5.2 Employee remunetation
The aggregate remuneration of these persons was:
2021
- B - - ) - - £m
Wages and salaries (210.2)
Deferred remuneration (111.8)
Social security costs (24.5)
Contributions to defined contribution pension arrangements {15.8)
Share-based payment charge (0.5)
Exceptipnal distribution by employee benefit trust (188.4)
Other payroll costs N ] ) o ads4)
Total aggregate employee benefits . B . B (569.6)
53 Directors’ emoluments in respect of qualifying services
202
L _ . £m
Directors
Aggregate emoluments 35
Directors accruing henefits under defined benefit schemes -
Birectors in the defined contribution scheme - } 2
Highest paid director
Aggregate emoluments ) 1.5

Na director exercised any options i any shares of the company or any other graup undertaking of the company during the period.

No director received shares of the company or any other group undertaking of the company during the period in respect of
qualifying services.



6. Alternative performance measures

As well as GAAP measures, the directors use certain
adjusted financial measures to assess the performance

of the business, the primary measures being EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA. The directors believe that adjusted EBITDA
provides additional useful information for shareholders on
the underlying performance of the business as this measure
is consistent with how the underlying business performance
1s measured internally, The directors view adjusted EBITDA as
the best representation of the business” normai. continuing
business performance by seeking to remove unusual items
of iIncome or expense which are Judged to be one-off or
non-trading in nature or by quantum. This provides
management with increased comparahility of performance
between reporting periods.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These items are disclosed as exceptional in the Group’s
income statement if by virtue of their size or nature they
distart the underlying trading perfarmance,

o 2021 ]
Adjustments  Adjusted
- ) B L £m Em Em
Group aperating (foss)/profit (B8.5) 199.8 111.3
Amortisation of other intangible assets 53.4 - 534
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 42 - 4.2
Depreciation of right of use assets ; &5 ~ - 6.5
EBITDA (24.4) 199.8 1754
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The adjustments refate to the following items 2021
o 7 Personnel and Administrative Other Totat
direct costs costs income adjustment
) ) - Note Em Em £m £m
Exceptional distribution by employee benefit trust & (188.4) - - (188.4)
Acquisition related costs b (2.5) (7.5) - (10.0)
Business closure costs c 1.0 (0.5 - 1.5)
Contingent income d - - 1.5 1.5
Pension advisor fees @ - (0.4) - {0.4)
Other costs (0.5 - - £0.5)
Share-based payment charge - f (0.5) ) - - (0.*51
Total adjusting items . (192.9) 8.4) 1.5 (199.8)

During the period the Group incurred certain costs and received certain income that the directors believe are of an exceptional
nature and guantum and shouid be separately disclosed.

This is the cost for the employee henefil lrust distribubion of cash and shares in the Group to employees.

These costs comprise stamp duty, professional fees, consideration deemed to bhe employment costs and staff retention costs.

ST

These cosis relate to the closure of businesses driven by the Group simpiification initiative in the geriod.

This income relates to contingent events concluded after the disposal of PA Defense incin 2020,

o o

These costs were professional fees associated with the buy-cut of the UK closed defined benefit scheme.

®

The share-based payment charge s m relation to the Group's Management Eguity Plan (see note 20 for details).

—h

6.1 Alternative cash flow measure

in the pericd ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s net operating cash outflow included one-off items incurred after the
PA Consulting Group acguisition which the directors regard as related te the transaction rather than normal operating cash
flows and therefore present an adiusted operating cash flow measure to show the position If these items were removed.

2021

. Note B} __Em

Net cash flows frem operating activities (58.5)
Adjustments

Exceptional distrioution by employee benefit trust a 188.4

Stamp duty cost related to acquisition o b 3 7.9

137.8

Adijusted net cash flows from operating activities

a. The employee benefit trust (EBT) facilitates the buying and selling of PA shares and at the point of Cariyle’s exit held a
significant share holding. As a result. the EBT itself received proceeds for its shares neld at the peint of Carlyle’s exit.
The EBT mace a discretionary distribution to PA people from these proceeds,

0. This cost represents the stamp duty incurred whilst acquiring the shares in PA Consulting Group Holdings Limited as part
of the acquisition.



7. Income and expenses

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

71 Other operating income
2021
- — - Em
Rental income from property sub-leases o _ 0.1
7.2 Included in operating loss
2021
Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting): Note _£m
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1L 4.2
Depreciation of right of Use assets o 12 65
Total depreciation charge o B 10.7
Amortisation of intangible assets 10 53.4
Charges in relation to short-term leases and lease of low value assets 0.5
Foreign currency differences 0.3
Government grant income (1.1)
R&D expenditure 8.2
73 Auditor’s remuneration
202
. £000
Fees payable to the company’s auditor far the audit of the company’s annual accounts 271
Fees payable to the Group's auditor for other services:
Audit of the accounts of subsidiaries 280
!

Qther assurance services

Included in audit of the financial statements is £60,000 relating to the Company,
The auchtor of PA Consulting Group Limited is Ernst & Young LLP.

51



52

8. Net finance costs

2021
) ~ ) Note £m
Finance income
Interest income an cash and cash equivalents _ b1
Finance costs
Preference shares (net of shares held by the Group) (115.5)
Senior debt interest 213>
Discounting impact of lease liabilities 12 1.7
Interest on defined benefit pension arrangement liabilities 21 _0.n
(138.6)
Net finance costs (138.5)




9. Tax

9.1 Tax on Loss on ordinary activities

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Current tax
United Kingdom

UK corporation tax at 19%

UK corporaticn tax
Foreign tax
Corpaoration taxes

Foreign tax

(4.43
4.4)

Total current tax charge

17.1)

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences

Total deferred tax

Total tax charge oh loss on ordinary activities
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9.2 Factors affecting current tax credit

The Group's tulal Lex charge 1s £37.1m. The three main items affecting this charge are:

i, interest pavable preference shares which is not tax-deductible
il the enacted change of tax rate in the UK and the resultant changes on deferred tax
i the distribution by the employee benefit trust which s not deductible tor tax purposes.

The Group's total tax charge 1s higher than the standard rate of UK corporation tax for the period, 19 per cent.
The differences are explained helow.

2021
S . - Em
Lass on ordinary activities before taxation (227.0)
Loss on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard corporation tax in the UK of 19 per cent 421
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (0.1)
Non-deductible preference share interest (i7.5)
Employee benefit trust distribution (36.5)
QOverseas losses arising in the period not relievable against current tax (0.1)
Use of tax losses which are relievable against current tax 0.4
Effect of change of tax rate on deferred tax asset (25.9)
Differential on overseas tax rates B ) o (0.5
Total tax charge for the period . (37.1)

The Finance Act 2016 included legislation to reduce the
main rate of UK corporation tax from 20 per cent {¢

19 per cent fram 1 April 2017 and to 17 per cent from

1 April 2020. The rate reduction to 17 per cent was
subseqguently reversed by the Finance Act 2020, such that
the main rate of UK corporation tax from 1 Apnl 2021
remaimns at 19 per cent. Tne Finance Act 2021 confirmed

an increase of UK corporation tax rate from 19 per cent

to 25 per cent with effect from 1 Aprli 2023 and this was
substantively enacted by the statement of financial position
date and therefore included in these financial statements.
Temporary differences have been remeasured using the
enacted tax rates that are expected to apply when the
llahbility is settled or the asset realsed.
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9.3 Deferred tax

The manr deferred tax (lialhities)/assets recognised by the Croup and movements thereon during the current financial
period are;

Deferred Property,
employee Pension Intangible piant and
remuneration costs  Tax losses assets  Provisions machinery Total
»_ B ; £m £Fm ___Em Em £fm . £m £m
Acquired on subsidiary acquisition
(Charged)/credited
- recognised on business combination 8.5 0.5 15.1 {144.0) 0.5) 2.5 (117.5)
- to profit or loss (excluding impact of .
remeasurement of deferred tax) 1.5 0.1 (2.6) 10.6 (0.1 (0.6) 5.9
- to profit or loss: impact of
remeasurement of deferred tax - - 35 (29.4) - - (25.9)
- foreign exchange and other movements ez - - - - - 6.2
At 31 December 2021 . 7.6 0.6 160 (162.8) (0.6) 19 (137.3)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right te o so. The following is the
analysis of the deferred tax halances after affset: 2021
. _ ; —— o tm
Deferred tax assets 2.4
Deferred tax liabilities - o i . (139.7)
(137.3)

9.4 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in relation to continuing operations have not been recognised in respect of the following items because
it 15 not nrobable that future taxable profits will be available against which the Group can utilise the benafits in the relevant

locations:

2021
£m

Tax losses ) i i 10.9
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10. Intangible assets

Goodwilt Cther intangible assets
Capitalised Cther
Customer development intangible assets
Software  Trademarks relationships costs total
L Note £m £m _Em £Em ) VEm £m
Cost
Acquired on subsidiary acquisitions 25 1,035.0 1.1 164.2 555.6 - 720.9
Additions - 0.4 - - 1.4 1.8
Disposals B - (0.2) - - .2)
At 31 December 2021 1,035.0 13 164.2 555.6 14 7225
Accumulated amortisation
Disposals - 0.2 - - - 0.2
Charge for the year L 72 - 0.8) (6.8} (45.8) _ - (53.4)
At 31 December 2021 - (0.6) (6.8) (45.8) - (53.2)
Net boo\l_( amount o )
At 31 December 2021 1,035.0 07 157.4 _509.8 14 ~ 669.3




The software intangible asset is the Group's investment in

a new enterprise resource planning system that replaced the
Group's core legacy back office systems. The asset is being
amortised over 4 useful hfe of three years,

Trademarks represent the value of the royaity streams
associated with the PA hirand, and are being amortised
evenly over the directors’ estimate of their useful economic
life of 20 years.

Customer relationships represent the acguired customer base
that 15 expected to continue to suppart the business. These
customer relationships are being amartised over their useful
economuic lives of nine to 11 years depending on the sector

in which the customer belongs. These useful economic lives
represent the period over which the Group is expected to
henefdt from the relaticnships.

The goodwill intangibie asset relates entirely to acquired
goodwill through business combinations and is tested for
impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment
and at least annually.

See note 25 for detalls of intangibles acquired in the period.

Impairment of goodwill

For impairment testing, goodwill and other contributing
assets are allocated to the consultancy CGU to calculate the
carrying value of the consultancy CGU.

During the period impairment losses of £nil and impairment
reversals of £nit were recognised.

The recoverabie amount is the higher of fair value less

costs of disposal and value 1z use, The recoverable amount
of the consultancy CGU as at December 2021, has been
determined based on the value in use calculation using cash
flow projections from financial budgets approved by senior
management covering & live-year penod. These business
plans and forecasts include management’s most recent view
of medim-term tracing prospects. The post-tax discount
rate applied to cash flow projections is 11.0 per cent and
cash flows beyond this period are extrapolated using a

1.5 per cent growth rate that is withun the range of the
lang-term average growth rate for the consultancy industry.
1te 2 per cent.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The level ot impairment is predominantly dependent upon
judgement used in arriving at future growth rates and the
discount rates applied to cash flow projections. The impact
on the impairment charge of applying a reasonabty possitle
change in assumptions to increases in revenue and cost of
sales In the frive-year husiness plan, growth rates used in

the tive-year business plans and the pre-tax discount rates
would not lead to an incremental impairment charge.

The calculation of value in use is most sensitive to the
following assumptions:

= revenue and cost of sales
+ discount rates
« growth rates.

Revenue and cost of sales are based on past experiences
and historical knowledge of the CGUL It was built on a

highly detaifed bottom-up appraach, and examples of
considerations that were taken into account are in respect of
variations in growth by geography and the Group continually
growing in scale.

Discount rates represent the current market assessment of
the risks specific to the CGU, taking inta consideration the
time value of money and individual risks of the underlying
assets that have not heen incorporated in the cash flow
estimates. The discount rate calculation 1s based on the
specific crcumstances of the Group and 15 derived from

its weighted average cost of cagital (WACC). The WACC
takes into account bath debt and equity, The cost of

equity is derived from the expected return on investment
by the Group’s mvestors. The cost of debt is based on the
interest-bearing barrawings the Group s obliged to service.
Segment-specific rnisk 15 incorporated by applying individual
beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based
on publicly available market data. Adjustments to the
discount rate are made to factor in the specific amount and
timing of the fufure tax flows n order to reflect ¢ pre-tax
discount rate.

Growth rate estimates are based on management's forecast
using a third-party valuation model.
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Office
Short furnityre
Freghold leasehold equipment
land and and and Computer
buildings praperty machinery equipment Total
) Note £m £m £m _Em £m
Cost
On acquisition 25 16.4 6.3 24 25 278
Effects of mavements in exchange rates - 0.1 0.1 0.2
Additions at cost ~ 0.3 0.3 1.0 2.0 4.6
At 31 December 2021 16.7 6.7 3.4 5.6 324
Accumulated amortisation
Effect in movement in exchange rates - 0.1 - - (0.1
Charge for the peried 72 (0.9) n (0.6) (2.0) (4.2)
At 31 December 2021 (0.9) 0.8 (0.6) (2.0} (4.3)
Net book amount o _ ] . L
15.8 5.9 2.8 3.6 28.1

At 31 December 2021




12. Leases

Group as a lessee

The Group has fease contracts for various items of property,
vehicles and other equipment used uy its operatians, Leases
of property generally have lease terms between two and

15 years, while motor vehicles and other equipment generally
have lease terms between three and five years. The Group's
obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor's title

to the leased assets. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and sub-leasing the leased assets. There are several
{ease contracts that include extensicn and terminaticn
options and variable fease payments, which are further
discussed below.

NGTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group also has certain ieases of office space with lease
terms of 12 months or less and {eases of office equipment
with low value. The Group applies the 'short-term lease’
and 'lease of low-value assets' recognition exemptions for
these leases.

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and
the movements during the period are as follows:

Property  Motor vehicles Total

i o Note __fm Em £m

Cn acguisition 25 54.4 0.5 54.9
Additions 14 0.4 i8
Depreciation charged in period 12 (6.3) 0.2> (6.5}
Effects of movements in exchange rates (0.2) L - (.2}
49.3 0.7 50,0

As at 31 December 2021
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabdities and the movements during the period are as follows:

Property  Mator vehicles Total

i - : Nete £m Em. __fm

On acquisition (54.4) (0.5) 54.9
Additions (1.4) {0.4) (1.8)
Interest charged 8 (.7 - W)
Payments made 71 0.2 7.3
Effects of movements in exchange rates o e 0.4 - _ 04
As at 31 December 2021 (50.0) 0.7 (50.7)
Current (9.3) (0.4) 9.7
Non-current (40.7) (0.3) (41.0)

Expenses recognised n profit or loss during the per«od in relation to leases not snown in the abaove tanles are;

2021

- - - — . - £m

Expense relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets L . .
- property assets B ; . . } 03
- non-preperty assets o . o 02
Expense relating to service and other related charges ) B L ) 1.2

The Group had total cash outfiows for leases in the penod of £7.3 million.



13. Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from 13
financial nstruments as part of its day-to-day operations.
These broadly fall within four categones: hguidity risk, cradit
risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate nsk. The areas of
exposure and the Group’s approach to management of the
risk are detailed helow.

13.1 Liguidity risk

Liguidity risk occurs from a lack of available funding in the
focation or currency required, when required,

The Group 1s sufficiently cash generative to cover its
operational requirements and has significant cash reserves
available an a daily basis. Cash 1s held as easily accessible
In Interest-dearing current accounts, hguidity funds or
short-term depasits, The Group also has access toa

£50 midlion undrawn revalving credit facifity should
exceplional operational or Investment requirements arise.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To manage this risk, the Group's central treasury team
monitors global cash requirements via short- and medium-
term rolling forecasts which are reviewed by management
on a regular basis. This takes into consideration receipts and
payments in each of the Group’s various focal currencies.
A certain level of operational funds is maintained locally
taking into account the liquidity of the local market to
cover any unforeseen ar emergency payments. Due to the
central control, the Group treasury team has the ability to
maove funds quickly around the Group should further
resource be required.

The Group has access to currency trading lines to enable
conversion of funds from/to all the Group's trading
currencies as necessary within the aareed settlement iimits.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabihties
into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual
tnaturities and represents the gross, undiscounted
contractual cash flows,

At 31 December 2021 Total
<12 Betweenl Between?2 Qver contractual Carrying
months  and 2 years and 5 years Syears cash flows value
- _ £fm £m fm Em £m £m
Trade and other payables (222.5) 2.0 (0.9) - (225.4) (225.4)
Borrowings - - (2,733.4) - (2,733.4) (1,921.4)
Lease ligbilitles _ @n (7.4) {18.9) (24.5) (60.1) (50.7)
Total financial liabilities (232.2) (9.4  (2,752.8) (24.5)  (3,018.9)  (2,197.5)
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13.2 Credit risk

For cash management and investment purposes. credit
risk 1s managed centrally on a Group basis. The Group's
treasury policy requires a minimum long-term rating of A
(Standard & Poor’s) or A2 (Moody's) for any banking or
financial instilution. New counterparties require approval by
a subcommittee of the board and ratings are reviewed on a
regular basis. Limits are set for the maximum amount

that can be held per counterparty to reduce the Group's
exposure to any one institution. Investment products such
as hquidity funds require a long-term rating of AAA/Aaa
with any exception to this needing approval from the Chief
Financial Officer.

For derivative financial instruments, the Group maintans
multicle foreign currency trading lines onty with financial
nstitutions that meet the ratings as noted above, Trading
limits are established so that, at any time, the fair value
of favourable contracts outstanding with any individual
counterparty does not exceed the approved maximum
expasure thresholds.

The Group manages its credit risk in relation to its trade
receivables through well-established and communicated
project management policies which those responsible for
contracting with new clients on behalf of the Group are
required to adhere to, These policias reguire customer
creditworthiness to be established prior to entering into a
contractual relationship through a combination of company
history and historical financial dala checks, a public search
of information and in some instances obtaining an external
credit report to facilitate the decision-making. Where there
is a lack of information availakle or infermation may suggest
a higher level of default risk, the Group requires mitigation
throudgh advance payment. obtaining parental guarantees or
bank guarantees. Further detail on the Group’s assessment of
expected credit losses is included in note 4.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
reperting period is the carrying amount of each class of
financial assets as shown in notes 4 and 14,



13.3 Foreign currency risk

The Group has an international footprint and consegquently
as part of its day-to-day operations is exposed to forgign
exchange risk arising from various currencies but primarily
the US dollar. euro. Swedish krona and Danish and Norwegian
krone. This exposure arises when commercial transactions
and retated financial assets and liakilities are denominated
i a currency that is not the entity's functional currency.
Whiie the Group's currency infiows provide a natural offset
against local expenses, they are generally in excess of

the costs and resutt @ net currency inflows for the

Group whose administrative cost base is predominantly
sterling denominated.

The Group uses simple derivatives (forward contracts

and swaps) to help manage this risk at a project levei or
for significant non-project financral assets or habilities.
Requirements reviewed on a project-by-project basis take
into consideration size and duration of the project as well
as the contracted billing currency. Parameters and limits
for trading are defined m the Group’s treasury poiicies as
approved by the board of directors and can only be
performed by the Group treasury team.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hedge accounting is not currently applied for these
instruments. Detatls of the Group’s open forward contracts is
included in note 17.

The remaining currency exposure is monitored and managed
centrally primarily through forecasting net currency
requirements in each of the trading currencies and selling
excess currency Into GBP, the Group's functional currency,
on a reqular spot basis. The effect of foreign currency
differences on loss before tax 1s disclosed in note 7.2.

Sensitivity

The Group has a number of foreign currency-denominated
financial assets and financial iabilities held within itz
subsidiaries which create exposure to transiatior risk. The
Group’s exposure at the reporting date by key currency is
noted below. translated into sterling at the closing rate:

Net exposure

UsD EUR DKK Other Total
At 51 December 2021 £m £m £m - _fm £m
Financial assets 30.0 16.6 18.0 7.1 71.7
Financial liabilities e By eSSy 23 @D (GR)
206 0.1 5.7 (2.0) 13.0
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As shown above, the Group is primarily exposad to changes in USD/GBP. These exposures go to the Group's profit or loss
and are predominantiy generated from the Group’s treasury entity which holds cash and intra-Group loans in a variety
of currencies, If exchange rates fluctuated by +/- 10 per cent, this wauld result in the following impact on the Group's

tncome statement:

ust EUR DKK Other Total
2021 ~ £m ) £m _tm Em fm
+10% (1.9) - 0.5 0.2 (2
10% - 23 0.1 (0.6) (0-2) L4
13.4 Interest rate risk Interest rate risk on fixed-rate borrowings exists where

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term
borrowings with variable rates, which expose the Group

to cash flow interest rate risk. The principal amount of the
Group's total tong-term boirowings at 31 December 2021,
was £1.832.2 million of which 65 per cent was fixed interest
rate instruments.

The Grougp fixes imterest rates on its vartable rate borrowings
n compliance with contractual requirements, or where 11
considered economically beneficial to do so, based on the
remaining maturnty of the borrowing, indicative price to fix
and market expectation on future interest rate increases.

The Group's treasury policy allows the use of flcating-to-fixed
mnterest rate swaps to achieve this when necessary.

During the period there has been continued low volatifity in
the reference interest rates and while there are indications
of interest rate increases over the coming year, management
have assessed the interest rate risk exposure to be withina
tolerable leve! and therefore no specific hedging has been
implemented. This pesition 1s reviewed on a quarterly basis
by obtaining indhcative floating-fixed swap pricing for a
range of terms up to the repayment date,

the Group is locked into rates which are adverse to current
market rates if the differential impacts the Group’s ability
to be competitive in comparison to other participants in
the market.

All of the Group's borrowing instruments are held at
amortised cost and conseguentty there is no balance sheet
exposure to fair value fluctuations,

Sensitivity

Profit ar lass is sensitive to the mntarest expense on the
Group's borrowings. An adverse movement in SONIA

(tne replace benchmark rate for sterling LIBOR) hy 0.5 per
cent would incroase the interest charge by £2.25 million on
an annual basis.

13.5 Capital risk

The Group’s chjectives when managing capital are to
maximise shareholder value while safeguarding the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern and to provide resource
options for iInvestment opportunities. In comman with private
equity portfolic companies, the Group carries a high levei

of net debt compared to equity. Total capital 1s calculated

as total equity as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position, plus net debt, Net deht s calculated as the
total of borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position. less cash and cash eguivalents,



14. Financial assets and liabilities

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

Financial assets

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Held at amortised cost
Trade receivables
Loans to key management personnef
Borrowings; own preference shares held by employee benefit trust
Other receivables*

Cash and cash equivalents

2021
£m

99.4
0.1
28.9
1.2
183.2

3128

202

Held at amortised cost

Trade and other payables®

Borrowings

Held at fair value through profit or foss

Trade and other payables®

(224.4)
(1,950.2)

(1.0)

“Excluding non-financial assets or iabilities

(2175.7)
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141 Fair values

For instruments held at amortised cost, management
consiger that the carrying amounts approximate to the fair
values due ta the short-term maturities of these instruments.
except for certain of the Group’s borrowing instruments as
disclosed in note 18.

For instruments held at fair value, the carrymg amount in the
table above 1s the fair value,

The Group is required to classify each instrument held at
fair value into one of the hierarchy levels (as prescribed in
accounting standards) to refiect the source and relishdity of
mputs used n determining fair vaiue.

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments tracded in active
markets (such as publicly traded dernwvalives, and eguity
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reparting period. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bnd price. These
mstruments are ncluded m Level 1.

Level 2: The fair vatue of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active rmarket (e.g. over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the
use of observabie market data and rely as little as possible

on entity-specific estimates. If all significant mputs required
ta fair value an instrument are cbservable, the instrument is
included in Level 2.

Level 3: if one ar more of the significant inputs 1s not based
on chservabie market data. the instrument 15 included in
Levet 3.

The classification of Grouo's financial instruments held at fair
value is shown in the table below.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At El December 2021 ) i fm £m __Em £m
Financiat liabilities
Trade and other payables _ . - - (1.0} a.m
Total financial liabilities - - o (1.0)

The Group’s foreign exchange torward contracts are Levet 2
derivative financial instruments, The far value is remeasured
on a monthly basis with reference to availabie forward market
rates and comparative instrument pricing. The counterparties
are strong financia! institutions and therefare no adjustment
s considered to e required for counterparty credit risk.

The Group’s Level  financial instruments are amounts
payable in respect of PA Consulting historical business
acguisitions. The value paid out is dependent an mesting
certain financial performance criteria. The fair value is
determined using management’s financial forecasts against
those targets to ascertain the most likely level of payment in
line with the contract.

Further details of the Group’s financial instruments are
mcluded in the following notes 15 to 18,



15. Other current assets

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2021
_ B Em
;r;;ayments*r- B - 5.9
Taxation 8.8
Leans to staff 0.1
Withholding tax debtor 0.9
Other debtors B _ A
- ) 19.7

16. Trade and other current liabilities
2021
o £m
Trade payables - (1.9
QOther taxes and social security (33.4)
Deferred employee remuneration (135.2)
Accrued interest on senior debt (7.3)
(44.7)

Other payables

(222.5)

67



2]

17. Derivatives

Derivatives are only used for economic hedging purposes
and not as speculative investments, However, where
dervatives do not meet the hedge accounting criteria, they
are classified as ‘held for trading” and are accounted at fair
value through profit or loss. During the peniod, the Group
used non-complex derivatives as noted below.

171 Forward currency contracts

The Group uses forward contracts to sell foreign currency

in relation to certain of its foreign currency-dencminated
comrnercial contracts. The fair value of outstanding forward
contracts at the reporting date is shown in the table below.
This represents the market vaiue if the Group were to close
the contracts out at the reporting date.

As at 31 December 2021

Buy Sell
Currency Currency Fair value
L ) : Average rate CCY'000 Averagerate  CCY'0CQ _ £000
Current
US dallar - 13323 (1,244) 20




18. Borrowings

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Al 31 December 2021, the Groug had borrowings comprising senior debt and redeemaile preference shares as detaded in the

table below,

These are classified as loans and other interest-bearing debt instruments as detailed in the table below.

Principal Interest Maturity
L £rn rate
Senior debt (650.0) LIBOR + 3.25% 28 March 2027
Redeemable preference shares (1,182.23
Redeemable preference shares cwned by employee
benefit trust 26.3 _
Net redeemable preference shares ~ (1155.9) 12% )
TE_tEI Borrowings i ) L (1,805.9)

i.  Subssguent to 31 December 2021, the reference interest rate on the Group's senior debt was changed from LIBOR to SONIA due to the publication of sterling
LIBOR settings ceasing on 1 January 2022, The new rate of interest will be SONIA + 0.0326% plus a margin between 3.25-4,25% depending on the Group's net

leverage ratio.

As at 31 December 2021

Non-current Total

Current
~ ~ B ~ fm £m B £m
Senior debt - (650.0) {650.0)
Redeemable preference shares - (1,300.3) (1,300.3)
Redeemabte preference shares owned by employee henefit trust - 28.9 } 288
Net redeemable preference shares - (12714 (1,271.4)
Total Borrowings - (914 (1,921.4)
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The fair values of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are determined by using the discounted cash
flow method applying a discount rate that reflects the issuer’s
barrowing rate as at the end af the reporting perod. The

fair values are considered to be materially the same as the
carrying values nated above, except for the preference
shares, which has heen assessed as £1,565.9 mullian. The

own non-performance sk as at 31 December 2021, was
assessed to he insignificant in all cases.

Specific terms and conditions of the debt mstruments arg
roted below.

Senior debt

The senior debt is a term loan secured by a charge over the
entities within the Group. The barrowing agreement was
antered 1nto with Jacohs Engineering Group Inc on 2 March
2021. ta provide funding for the Company's acguisition of the
PA Consulting Group. Minimal fees were incurred i arranging
the facility and therefore the Group did not capitalise any
amounts in relation to the loan.

The loan contains certain financial covenants and restrictions
on providing security over the Group's assets to any party
outside of the Group. Compliance with the covenants is
reparted on a quarterly basis. There has been no notifizble
event of default during the current year.

Redeemable preference shares

The preference shares were issued on 2 March 2021 at £1
each. Div:dends accrue at the rate of 12 per cent per annum.
compounded on an annual basis. The shares are mandatorily
redeemable at the earlier of an investment disposal by
Jacobs Engineering Group g, or five years in-bne with a
contractual Valuation event. While currently this s not a
defined date, it does represent s requirement for redemption
outside of the sharehoider’s control and therefore the shares
have been recognised as kabilities.



19. Capital and reserves

19.1 Share capital

19.1.1  Authorised shares

NCTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2021
Thousand

Ordinary A shares of £0.01 each
Qrdinary B shares of £0.01 each
Ordinary C shares of £0.01 each

137,220
73,388
70,369

281,477

Qrdinary A shares

Ordinary B shares

Ordinary C shares

Nominal Nominal Nominal
Issued and fully paid Thousands value £m Thousands value fm AIhousands_ ] value Em
Issued on 2 March 2021 137,220 1.4 73,888 0.7 - -
Issuedon7 July2021 - o - - =i7E24 02
As 31 December 2021 137,220 ] 14 73.888 0.7 17,824 Q.2

On 20 November 2020, 1 ordinary A £1 share was issuad for £1.

On 2 Marcn 2021, the 1 ordinary A £1 share was subdivided into 100 ordinary A £0.01 shares and fully pandt up at £0.05 each.
On 2 March 2021, 137,219,782 ardinary A £0.01 shares were 1ssued at £0.05 each for the tetal cash considerabion of £6.860,989

resulting in a share premium of £5,488,791. The allctment of shares is fully paid up.

On 2 March 2021, 73,887,769 ordinary B £0.01 shares were issued at £0.05 each for the totsi cansideration of £3,694,388
{cash - £1,107,344, non-cash £2,587,044) resylting 1n a share premium of £2,955.511. The alfotment of shares 1s fully paid up.

On 7 July 2021, 17,823,768 ordinary C £0.01 shares wereg issued at £0.05 each for the total cash consideration of £891.188

resulting in a share premium of £712.951. The allotment of shares is fully pawd up.
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19.1.2  Class rights

Share class Voting rights

Dividend rights

Crdinary A shares Full voting rights

The right to all dﬁvidends_

Crdinary B shares Fulj voting rights

The right to all dividends

__The right to all dividends

Ordinary C shares ~__No voting rights

18.1.3  Priority on a return of capital or sale

Share clasg,d s ) Amount

Crdinary shares (A and 8) Entitled to the balance of the surplus assets in proportion to the amount paid up.

Entitied to a calculated share of the surplus assets as defined in the Company’s articles of

Ordinary shares (C) association.

The purpose of the Group's employes benefit trust (EBTY 15 Lo facilitale and encourage Lhe ownershup of shares by emiployees
through repurchiasing shares held by previous employees and hofding them for subsequent sale or grant, Qwn shares held are

treated as a deduction from shareholders” funds.

At the reporting date, the EBT held the following ordinaty shares:

18.2 Own shares held by employee benefit trust

202

- _ Thousands

Ordinary B shares 4,696
Ordinary C shares _ B 620
5,316

19.3 Nature and purpose of reserves

19.3.1 Own share reserve

The own share reserve comprises the cosl of the Company's shares held hy the PA 2004 ESOP.

19.3.2 Foreign currency translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations and the proceeds received from Employees on the purchase of the companies ordinary C shares due to

conditions over those shares which have not yet been met.



20. Share-based payments

The Group only operates one share scheme, the Management
Equity Plan (MEP), The refated expense recognised for
employee services received during the year in relation to

the scheme 1s £0.5m which s recarded as an equity-settled
share-based payment expense, included within

employment costs.

Management Equity Plan

Under the MEP, certain senicr personnel are awarded the
apportunity to purchase an allocation of the Company's
ordinary C shares at the unrestricted market price relevant
at the grant date as determined by third party valuation
experts.

The potential incremental growth in vaiue of the ordinary

C shares foliowing the issue is only available to participants
through continued employment in the Group for at least two
yaars after their first purchase of the shares. The proportion
of shares from the award that are applicable for price-growth
realisation (termed as ‘Fair Market Value (FMV) shares’)
increases based on the fength of service of up to five years
when a Valuation event can be triggered and all shares
became FMV shares,

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fair value of the Plan is estimated at the grant date using
a Monte Carlo gricing mode! taking intc accaunt the terms
and conditions on which the shares were 1ssyed. The service
condition is only considered in determining the number of
instruments that will ultimately vest.

As the settlement of the price-growth at a Valuation event
is not the obligation of the Company nor the timing of
settlement in the control of the Company, the Group
accounts for the Pian as an equity-settled pian where
employees are expected to remain in employment through
to a Valuation event.

If a material number of employees were expected to leave
ahead of that date, the proportign of shares issued o the
expected leavers would be treated as cash-settled.

The Group does not expect a material number of those
awarded ordinary C shares (o leave,

Details of the ordinaty € shares cutstanding during the reporting period are as follows:

2021
Weighted average

L o _ Number purchase price
At 20 November 2020 - -
Granted 17,823,768 £0.05
Forfeited (620,000) £0.05
12,203,768 _ £005

Qutstanding at 31 December 2021

Of which unconditional FMV shares
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The weighied average fair value of awards 1ssued during the period was £0,39 and weighted average remaiting contractual life

was 4.2 years as at the reporting date.

The inputs into the Monte Carlo model used to determine the farr value are as follows:

Ijgue date e 7 July 20_2_1
Equity value 3 £1,178m
Expected volatility - 3 30%
ExpectedLlife 4.73 years
Risk-free rate . 0.25%

0%

Expected diviggnd yielg

Expected volatility was determined by reference to the
historical share price volatility as at the issue date for a
sample of comparative listed companies over the same
peariod as the expected life of the award.

The expected life used in the model has been determined
based on management’s best estimate of the expected

timing of ¢ Valuaticn or Exit event,

The risk-free rate is the yield on UK government gilts at the



21. Retirement benefits

Group

The Group operates a number of pension arrangements
throughout the world, the forms and benefits of which vary
with conditions and practices in the countries concerned.
The largest arrangements are seif-administered and their
assets are held independently of the Group's finances in
either separate trustee-administered funds or insurance-
based schemes. The principal arrangements are in the
United Kingdom and comprise both defined contribution
and defined benefit schemes,

On acquisition, the UK "PA Pension Scheme™ and the "PA
Mirror Legacy Pension Scheme’ were in buy-1n arrangements.
The assets of the schemes were invested in bulk-purchase
annuity pohcies with Pension Insurance Corporation plc.

The buy-in arrangement means that the Group does not have
exposure to movements in the scheme obligations and is not
reduited Lo make contributions into the schemes,

On 24 June 2021, The buy-m policy wn respect of the
remaining members in the PA Pensiocn Scheme was converted
intc individual palicies in the membars names with PIC, the
insurer, such that the liabifities/assets were assigned (o PIC,
This was trested as g settlement of berefits from the PA
Pension Scheme. This left the PA Pension Scheme with

Zero assets.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On 7 September 2021, the Trustee of the PA Mirror Legacy
Pension Scheme signed a transfer agreement and received an
estimated liability of £1 miltion fram tne PA Pension Scheme
tn relation to potential top-ups in respect of GMP equalisation
for members who transferred out of the PA Pension Scheme
prior tothe purchase of the original buy-in pohlicy on 14 June
2018. This movement of liability 1s shawn as a negative past
service cost for the PA Pension Scheme, offset by a matching
positive past service cost for the PA Mirror Legacy Pension
Scheme, Following this movement of the past service cost.
the PA Pensian Schame was teft with zero ligbilities/assets
and was subsequently wound up on 7 September 2021.

211 Defined contribution pension arrangements

The total pension costs for the Group relating to employer
contributions to defined contribution pension arrangements
were £15.9 mithon. At 31 December 2071, there were
outstanding unpaid contributions of £4.1 million.
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21.2 Defined benefit pension arrangements

21.2.1  Analysis of defined benefit pension arrangements with net assets and liabilities included in the Group statement

of financial position

Prudentiat
PA Mirror Legacy Platinum
Pension scheme scheme  Germany
UK closed UK closed closed Total
As at 31 December 2021 3 _ Em fm fm £m
Defined benefit pension arrangements with gross assets
(liabilities} .o 0.2 (4.0) (4.8)
Restriction to apply on recognition pf surplus - (0.2) - (0.2)
Total pension liabilities included in the Group statement of
financial position _ a.om R ) 5.0)
21.2.2  Analysis of amounts recognised in the Group income statement
PA Mirror
Legacy  Prudential
PA pension Pensicn Piatinum
scheme scheme scheme Germany
UK wound-up UK closed UK closed closed Total
As at 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m
Historical service costs o _ 1.0 Qo - -
Recognised in arriving at operating profit 1.0 (1.0} - - -
Other finance costs B e - - L - ©n
Total recognised in the Group income statement 1.0 (1.0} 01y - 0.1)
21.2.3  Analysis of amounts recognised in the Group statement of cther comprehensive income
PA Mirror
Legacy  Prudential
PA pensicn Pension Platinum
scheme scheme scheme Germany
UK wound-up UK clesed UK closed closed Total
As at 31 December 2021 _ B B 3 _£m __fm £m £m £m
Actual return on assets less interest (50.8) 1.0 - - (49.6)
Actuarial loss on liability 50.6 (1.0} 0.1 0.73 48.0
Restriction to apply an recognition of surplus - - - - -
Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised on defined benefit
pension arrangements - - 0.1 0.7 {0.6)
Deferred taxetion o - - - R
Total recognised in the Group statement of other
- 0.1 (.7 (0.6)

comprehensive income




21.3 PA Pension Scheme

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This scheme was wound up on 7 September 2021, The reconciliation of scheme assets and lizhilities from the date of

acquisition of the PA Group to the winding up of the scheme are provided below,

21.3.1  Reconciliation of fair value of scheme assets
2021
e e Em
On acquisition 687.7
interest on obligation 59
Benefits paid (13.0)
Actual return plan assets less interest (50.6)
Curtailments and settlements (on issuance of individual policies to the remaining members) (630.0)
Al 31 December o . -
21.3.2 Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities
202t
__ - _£m
On acquisition (688.7)
interest on obligation (GEN
Benefits paid 13.0
Transfer of past service credit and settlements 1.0
Actuarial gains/(losses) due to;
Experience gain 11.4
Changes in financial assumptions 39.2
630.0

Curtailments and settlements (on issuance of individual policies to the remaining members)

At 31 December
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N4 PA Mirror Legacy Pension Scheme

The mnst recent actuarial funding valuation has been updated by Lane Clark & Peacock LLP in order to assess the liabilities
of the scheme at 31 December 2021 for the purposes of IAS 19 Employee Benefits. Scheme assets are stated at therr market

value at 31 December 2021, The principal assumptions used in this valuation by the actuaries were;

21.4.1 Principal assumptions

2021
%
Retail price inflation ) 3.5
Consumer price inflation until 31 January 2030 _ 25
Consumer price inflation after 31 January 2030 _ 3.4
Weighted average consurrer price inflation - ) B 29
Discount rate o 158
Pension increase rate RP} } 3.5
Pension increase rate based on weighted average CP 2.9
The post-retirement martality assumptions used were as follows:
i _ Years
Life expectancy of pensioners age 60 in 2021
+ Men 289
= Women 314
Life expectancy of pensioners age 60 in 2036
+ Men 301
» Women ) ) 327
14.1

Weighted average duration




21.4.2  Scheme assets and liabilities

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2021
£m
Buy-in insurance policy . 358
Total fair value of assets - ~ 359
Present value of scheme liabilities (36.9)
Deficit in the scheme (1.0)
Restriction to apply on recognition of surplus o . i -
Pension deficit _ 49
The scheme assets as a percentage of the total scheme assets are as foliows: 2021
_ - _ S %
Buy-in i.nsy_rance poiicy B 1p0.0
21.4.3 Rececnciliation of fair value of scheme assets
2021
I S . . . e ___Em
On acquisition 35.5
interest on assets 6.5
Benefits paid 1.1
Running costs -
Actual return plan assets less interest 10
At 31 December 359

The actual return on scheme assets was g gain of £1.5 million,
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21.4.4 Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities

On acquisition

Interest on obligation

Benefits paid

Past service credit and settlements

Actuarial gains/(losses) due to:
Experience gain

Changes in financial assumptions

Cia_nges in demc_:graphic assumptions

At 31 December

2021
£m

(35.5)
0.3
11

(1.07

21.4.5 Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably nossible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumpticns, hoiding other assumptions
constant, would have affected the defined henefit ohiigation by the amounts shown helow.

31 December 2021

Increase Decrease
£m £m

Discount rate (0.1% movement)

Inflation rate (0.1% movement)

{0.5) 0.5
©.5)

94

215 Other defined benefit arrangements

AL 31 Decemizer 2021, the Group had a closed defined benefit scheme in the UK (Prudential Platinum scheme) with net assets
of £nil and a closed defined benefit scheme in Germany with a net habtity of £4.0 mullion. The full disclosures as required by
IFRS are not provided because, inthe directors’ opimion, these arrangemetts are immaterial to the net assets of the Graup,



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. Capital and other financial commitments

There were capital commitments of £2.2 million contracted for but not provided 1n the financial statements at 31 December 2021,

The Group has guarantead bid, performance and rent bonds 1ssued by 1ts banks on i1ts behalf in the ordiary course of business
totaling £2.0 miikion as at 31 Dacember 2021, These are not expected to result in any material financial loss.
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23. Subsidiary undertakings

The subsidrary undertakings as at 31 December 2021 are shown below. All are inclucded in the Group financial statements and
are wholly owned ether directly. or indirectly, by the Company unless otherwise stated. All subsidiaries prepare accounts ug te
21 December each year except for PA Consulting Services {india) Private Limited, Nyras Limited and Nyras Capital LLP, which

prepare accountsup fo 37 March,

Directly held
Name o Cauntry _ Regsstered office address Class of share held Nature of busingss
PA Consulting Group United : ;
Haldings Limited Kingdom 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E 5DN  Ordinary and preference  Holding company
indirectly held
Name Country Registered office address __ Class of share held Nature of busingss
. Portland Towers, Goteborg Plads 1, .
PA Cansuiting Group A/S Denmark DK-2150 Copenhagen Ordinary Consultancy
. . Portland Towers, Goteborg Plads 1, i .
PA Consulting Holdings ApS  Denmark DK-2150 Copentagen Ordinary Holding company
PA Consulting Group GmbH  Germany An der Welle 3, 60322 Frankfurt, Orginary Consultancy
Germany
- - Suite 1106-8, 11/F, Tai Yau Building, No. )
PA Consulting Group Limited Hong Kong 181 Johnston Road, Warichai Qrdinary Consultancy
PA Consulting Services . 4A & 4B Gold Nest, wWind Tunnel Road, )
{india} Private Limited India Murugeshpalya, Bangalore 560017 Ordinary Dormant
¢/o Velderrain Saenz y Asociados, S.C.,
PA Consulting Graup, S.de . Avenida Insurgentes Sur 1915-602, Col.
R.L.deCV Mexico Guadalupe Inn, Alvaro Obregon, 01020 Quota Consultancy
- B B Mexico City L e _
¢/c Velderrain Saenz y Asociados, S.C..
PA Consulting Mexico . Avenida Insurgentes Sur 1915-602, Col. .
Services S.A.de C.V, Mexico Guadalupe Inn, Afvaro Obragon, 01026 Ordinary Consultancy
N B _ Mexico City ~ 7
. Gebouw B, Papendorpseweg 97, . .
PA, Consuiting Group BV Netherfands 3523 B Utrecht Ordinary Holding company
PA Consulting Services BY Netherlands Gebouw B, Papendorpseweg 97, Consultancy

3528 BJ Utrecht

Crdinary

PA Holdings BY Netherlands

Gebouw B, Papendorpseweg 97.
3528 BJ Utrecht

Ordinary and preference

PA International Holdings BY  Netherlands

PA Consulting Group Limited New Zealand

Norway

PA Consulting Group AS

Continued.

Gebouw B, Papendorpseweg 97,

Holding company

3528 B Utrecht Ordinary Holding company
BDO Auckiand, Level 4, BDO Centre, 4 )

Graham Street, Auckland Central 1010 Ordinary Consultancy
Verkstedveien 1, PO Box 150, Skayen, Ordinary Consultancy

0277 Oslo




NOTES TO THE FiNaANCIAL STATEMENTS

Name ) Country Registered office address Class of share held Nature of business

PA Consulting Group (Qatar) Level 14, Commercial Bank Plaza, .

LLC Qatar West Bay, Doha Ordinary Consuitancy

PA Consulting Group AB Sweden Jakobsbergsgatan 17, 111 44 Stockholm  Ordinary Consultancy

) United :

7 Safe Limited ) 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E 53DN  Crdinary Consuitancy
Kingdom

Garden Finance Limited Einr':;eddom 10 Bressenden Place, Landon, SW1E 50N Ordinary and preference  Holding company

Garden Midco 1 Limiteg &ir:;;im 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E 5DN  Ordinary and preference  Holding company

Nyras Capital LLP Uhited 10 Bressenden Place. Londgn, SW1E 5DN Consuitancy
Kingdom

Nyras Limited United 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E SON  Ordinary Consultancy
Kingdom ' ’

PA Consulting Government United ;

Services Limited Kingdomn 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E SDN  Ordinary Consultancy

PA Consulting Group United ; .

Finance Limited Kingdom 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E 5DN  QOrdinary and preference  Holding company

PA Cansulting Holdings United ; .

Lirnited Kingdom 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWI1E 5ON  Ordinary Holding company

PA Cpnsul_tm_g Management U_mted 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E 5PN Ordinary and preference  Holding company

Services Limited Kingdom

PA Consulting Services United ;

Limited Kingdom 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWI1E 5DN - Ordinary Consultancy

PA Finance Limited m;‘;‘;m 10 Bressenden Place, Lendor, SW1E 5DN  Ordinary Halding company

PA Group Treasury Services  United . Treasury services

Limited Kingdom 10 Bressenden Place, Londen, SW1E 5DN - Ordinary company

PA Hoidings Limited E{:;Zdom 10 Bressenden Place, Londan, SW1E 5DN - Ordinary Holding company

PA international Consulting :(J;';z%m 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E 5DN - Ordinary Holding company

Group Limited
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Name ) Country Registered office address B Class of share held Nature of business
United

PA Knowledge Limited Kingdom 10 Bressenden Place, Lendon, SW1E SDN - Ordinary Consultancy
PA Middle East Limited Ejr;:;c:)m 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E 5DN  Ordinary Consultancy
PA Netherlands Treasury United . Treasury services
Services Limited Kingdom 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWI1E 5DN  Ordinary company
PA Querseas Holdings United . .
Limited Kingdom 10 Bressenden Place. London, SWI1E 5DN  Ordinary Holding company
PA Pension Trustees Limited ginr:;ijim 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E 3DN  Ordinary Dormant
Pensi .
PA Pension Trustees United 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E SDN  Ordinary Trustee company
Two Limited" Kingdom
PA Perfect Cost Grid Limited E:,:;Zdom 10 Bressenden Place, Londen, SWI1E 5DN - Ordinary Consultancy
PA Technology Sclutions United .
Limited Kingdorn 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E bDN  Ordinary Consultancy
PA Treasury Services {US) United . Treasury services
Limited Kingdom 10 Bressenden Piace, London, SW1E 50N Ordinary company
PACG2 Limited Eir::;eddom 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E 50N Ordinary Holding company
United h ' Founder sﬂriés. growthii 7 :
Sparkler Limitea Kingdom 10 Bressenden Place, London, SW1E 50N shares and ordinary Consultancy
. ] g . B share_s _
: L United . ;
We Are Friday Limited Kingdom 50 Farringdon Road, London, EC1IM 3HE  Qrdinary Dormant
. 10 Maguire Road, Building 4, Lexington Common stock of no
Cooper Perkins Inc LUSA MA 02471 par value Consultancy
PA Consulting Group inc. USA 143 South Street, 6th Floor, Boston, Common and preference Consultancy
MA (2111
PA US Holdings inc. USA 143 South Street, 6th Floor, Bostan, Common and preference  Holding company
MA 2111
Essential Inc usa 143 South Street, th Floor, Baston, Commeon Dormant

MA 02111

492, noldmg it accardange with Gatar Commercist Tompanies _aw.

48 pwred Dy BA Consulling Services Limted, 52 owned by trustess,
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24. Related party transactions

Compensation of key management personnel

2021
- — ) . — . _ fm
Short-term employee benefits 279
Share-based payment transactions L o R
Compensation of key management personng! ] ) i _ 280

Included 1 key management personne! campensation s £24.5 mibon of one-off payments made as part of the gverall
£188.4 millian emplayee benefit trust distribution (described in nates 6 and 6.1, These payments were made to key
management personnel in their capacity as historical employee shareholders of PA Consulting Group in connection with
the scquisiton transaction.

Transactions with the controlling shareholder

During the perod, the Group entered into transactions, In the ordinary course of business, with the controlling shareholder.
The sates to the controling shareholder were subject to standard chent procurement poticies. The directors therefore consicder
that all such transactions have been entered into on an arm's-length basis. Transachions entered into, and trading balances
outstanding at 31 December, are as foliows

Sales to Purchases from Trading amounts Tradling ameounts

contralling controlling  owed from controlling owed to controlling

shareholder shareholder sharehecider sharehclder

o o £m . £m _ Em _ fm
2021 ~ 105 ) - .Y .

Transactions with subsidiaries of the controlling sharehelder

During the periog, the Group entered intc transactions. in the ordinary course of business, with subsidiaries of the controlling
sharehoider. autside of the PA Consultimg Group. The sales Lo the subsidiaries of the controlling shareholder were subject (o
standard cliant procurement pokcies. The directors therefore consider that all such trensactions have been entered mto on an
arm's-tength basis, Transactions entered into, and trading balances oulstanding at 31 December. are as follows:

Sales to Puchases from Amounts owed Amounts owed to
refated party refated party from related party related party
£m £m £m Em

202 _ ) 0.6 B ) 0.3 -
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25. Business combinations

25.1 Business combinations in 2021

Gn 2 March 2021, the Group acquired contral of PA Consulting Group Aoldmgs Limited (Formerly PA Consulting Group
Limited) throuah the purchase of 100 per cent of the share captal for total considerat:on of £1.842.7 mithon (£1,575.9 milhon
consideration to acgure 100 per cent of the total ssued equity and £266.8 milion to repurchasa outstanding loan notes
from Carlyle). PA Consulting Group Holdings Limited and its subsidianes provide expert consulting services in consumer and
manufacturing, defence and security, energy and utilities, financial services, government and pubiic services, hezlth anc life
sciences, and transport. operating globally from offices acrass the JK, US, Netherlands and Nordics.



25.1.1 Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

NCTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fair value recognised on acquisition

. I _fm
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 720.9
Right of use assets 54.9
Property, plant and equipment z27.6
Deferred tax assets 4,0
Other non-current assets . o . ¥
B 817.6
Current assets
Trade receivables 69.6
Contract assets 42.5
Derivative finandial instruments 0.2
Other current assets 15.9
Cash and cash equivalents _ - 294.1
e . ) 422.3
Current labilities
Trade and other current liabiiities (219.1)
Contract liabilities (28.3)
Lease liabilities 8.0)
Borrowings (266.8)
Current tax liabitities _ 0n
o _ (523.3)
Nen-current fliabilities
Lease ligbilities (45.9)
Pension and other post-employment liabilities (4.3)
Deferred tax liabilities (121.5)
Other non-current liabilities ) o (4.0
,,,,, . a7s.7)
Total identifiable net assets 540.9
Goodwill 1,035.0
1,575.9

Total consideration

g7
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Fair value adjustments have been made in respect of:

« recognition of customer relationship and trade name
intangible assets

* defarred tax

Identifiable intangibles are customer relationships.
contracts and backlog and trade name and have estimated
fivas ranging from nine to 20 years (weighted average hfe of
approximately 12 years). '

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities using the
present value of the remaining lease payments at the date
of acquisition. The right-of-use assets were measured at
an amount equal to the lease liahilities which resulted in

an increase in the book value of the acquired assets of
£15.5 million,

The fair value of the trade receivahies amounts to
£69.6 mithon, The grass armount of trade receivables is
£71.7 miliion and it is expected that the maijority of
contractual amounts can be coliected,

Goodwill recognised results from a substantial assembied
workforce, which does not gualfy for separate recogition,
as well as expected future economic benefits. None of

the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for
tax purposes.

25.1.2 Purchase consideration and cash flows on acquisition

The Company has nat completed 1ts final assessment of the
fair values of PA Censuiting’s assets acquired and liabilitios
assumed. The final purchase price allocation could result in
adjustments to certain assets and iiahilities. including the
residual amount allocated to goodwill.

From the date of acquwsition, PA Consulting Group
Holdings Limited contributed £676.8 million of revenue
and £97.9 million to profit before tax from continuing
aperations of the Group. If the combination had taken place
al 1 January 2021, revenue from contimuing operations
would have been £792.8 mullion and loss before tax from
centinuing cperations for the Group would have been
£239.3 million. If the combination had taken ptace on the
date of incorporation of the Company (20 November 2020}
revenue from continuing operations would have been
£890.5 mullion and the loss hefore rax from continuing
operations for the Group would have been £219.6 multion.

Total value

. S ] _&m

Total consideration 1,575.9
Less:

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) (294.1)

Non-cash cansigeration {292.3)

Acguisition cost of financial instrurments in a subsidiary of the Group _266.8

Net cash outflow on acquisition ] . 1,256.3

Transactignthbwigi@in_duded in cash flows from cperating activities) ] . 79

The Company ssued 53,740,872 ordinary B shares and 289,748,230 prefercnce shares as non-cash consideration.

The fair value of the consideration given was £292.3 miilion.

26. Controlling party

The controiling shareholder and ulimate controlhng entity of the Grour 1s Jacobs Engineening Group, Inc.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMEN™S

Company statement of financial position
at 31 December 2021

2021
Note _ Em
Assets o . o _
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries Cc5 1,333.1
Loan recejvable _ _ ) _ 93] 267.2
Totai non-current assets ~ 3 1,600.3
Current assets
Loan receivable cé 293.0
Cash and cash equivalents _ .
Total current assets - _ 293.2
Total assets . ) ~ 1,893.5
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other current liabilities ~ ) ) . ~ Ce {50.9)
Total current liabilities B L (50.9)
Net current assets ~ I .7 X
Non-current labilities
Barrowings €9 (1,921.4)
Other non-current liabilities _ _ i ] _ B C1o (0.9)
Total non-current liabilities _ o s223
Total liabilities ) B . . Q973
Net liabllities ) i (79.7)
Equity
Called-up share capital . cn 2.3
Share premium 9.2
Own shares reserve (1.1)
Retained earnings _ - (90.1)
(79.7)

Total equity

The financial statements were approved and authorised for 1ssue Dy the board of directors on 8 Apnf 2022.

£fRa®

Ken Toombs

Chief Executive Officer

PA Consulting Group Limited
Company nurmber 13025335



Company statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
for the period ended 31 December 2021

Share Share Qwn Retained
capital  premium shares reserve earnings Total
Note £m Em £m £m £m
Opening reserves on acquisition of employee
benefit trust 3 ] - - - 199.3 19393
Loss for the period _ - - - (289.8)  (289.8)
Transactions with owners of the Company
Issue of ordinary shares 19 2.3 9.2 - - 115
Movement in own shares held by empioyee trust - - (1.1) (.1 1.2}
Share based payment expense _ . o - - ) - 05 05
Total transactions with gwners of the Company 23 9.2 1 0.4 1c.8

At 31 December 2021 ) 2.3 g2 (1.1) (90.1) 79.7)




Cl. Basis of preparation

The Company is incorporated in the United Kingdom and
the separate financial statements of the Company have heen
presented as raguired by the Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements have heen prepared under the
historical cost convention (as modified to include revaluation
of certamn financial instruments Lo fair value) and on the
going concern basis {see note 1 to the consohdated

financial statements), The Company meets the definilion

of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 issued by the Financial
Reporting Council. Accordingty. the financial statements
have bean preparad in accordance with FRS 101 Redured
Disclosure Framewcrk and in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006 as applicable to companies using FRS 101.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advaniage
of the disclosure exempticons available under that standard in
relation to:

« FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

«  paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Management
(disclosure of valuation technigues and inputs used for
fair value measurement of assets and liabitities)

»  paragraph 38 of IAS 1 Fresentation of Financial
Statements - comparative information requirements in
respect of paragraph 79¢a)av) of I1AS 1 (g reconciliation
of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning
and at the end of the period}

+ the following paragraphs of |AS 1 Presentatior of
Financial Statements:

- 10(d) (stalement of cash flows)
- 16 (statement of compliance with all IFRS)

- 38A (requirement for minimum of two primary
statements, including cash flow statements)

- 38B-0 (additional comparative Information)
- 111 {cash flow statement informaticn)
- 134-136 {capital management disclosures)

+ {AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

*  paragraphs 30 and 31 of 1AS 8 Accounting Policies.
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
{requirement for the disclosure of information when an
entity has not applied a new IFRS that has been issued
but is not yet effective}

« paragraph 17 of {AS 24 Related Party Disclosures (key
management compensation}

+  thereguirements in IAS 24 Related Parfy Disclosures to
disclose related party transactions entered into between
two or more memibers of & groun.

NOTES TO TRE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The basis for the above exemptions is because equivalent
disciosures are included in the Group financial statements in
which the entity is consclidated.

The adopted principal accounting policies. which have been
applied consistently, are the same as those set out in note

2 to the consolidated financial statements, except as noted
helow in respect of those which are Company specific.

C2. Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where
appropriate, provisions for impairment.

C3. Critical accounting judgements
and estimates

The preparation of Company financial statements in
confarmuty with FRS 101 requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and habulities, the disciosure of contingent
assets and liablities at the date of the Company financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
chffer from those estimates. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an onqoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
whicit the estimate is revised. The critical accounting
judgements and estimates have been set out minate 3 of
the consclhdated financial statements. These judgements
have been applied consistently within the Company
financial statements,

C4. Income statement

In accordance with the exemption permitted by section
408 of the Companies Act 2006, tne Company has elected
not to present its own income statement or statement of
comprehensive Income for the period.
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C5. Investments in subsidiaries

202
- o £m
Investments on acquisition 1,3326
Contributions to subsidiaries in respect of share-based payments 0.5
Closing Investments o ) 13331
A list of subsidiary undertakings 1s included in note 23.
Cé. Loans receivable
2021
o - L ) £m
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Within 12 months 293.0
After more than 12 months o B - 267.2
o L _ o B B 560.?:
Borrower  Principal  Repavyment Interest rate 2021
L . £&m date Em
Investor loan notes Garden Midco 147.4 On demand 12% 2930
1 Limited
Redeemable preference shares PA Consulting Group 134.5 12% 2672
Hotdings Ltd
_ . ] o i 5602
Interest on each loan compounds annually.
C7. Cash and cash equivalents
2021
_ — _ — O £m
0.2

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include £0.2 million held by Employee Benefit Trust that ts restricted for specific use only.



Cs. Trade and other current liabilities

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2021
£m

Amounts owed to subsidiaries (38.6}
Deferred employee remuneration (5.0
Accruals o I -3
— . R (50.9)
Cs. Borrowings

2021
_ ‘ L - £m
Redeemable preference shares (1,300.%)
Redeemable preference shares owned by employeetrust _ 28.9
Net redeemable preference shares (1,271.4)
Senior debt _ o _{B50.0)
Total Borrowings - . (e
C10.  Other non-current liabilities

2021
_ ) £m
Other payables o e 0.9
cn. Share capital and reserves

Details of share capital and reserves are set out in note 19 to the Group financial statements.,

C12. Commitments

Other than as disclosed n note C14, the Company has no commitments contracted for but nat provided.

C13. Related party transactions

Directors’ transactions

The rernuneration of the directors and related party transactions relating to directors of the Company are shown in note 24,
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C14.

Audif exemptions - s479A

The Company has guaranteed the liabilities of the following subsidiaries in order that they qualify for the exemption from audit
unoer Section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 in respect of the period ended 31 Decemiper 2021

Proportion
Class of of ownership  Nature of
Name _ Registered office address Reg No share held interest business
7 Safe Limited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWI1E SDN 04274874 Ordinary 100% Consultancy
Nyras Capital LLP 10 Bressenden Place, Londen, SWIE 5DN  0C3041G9 100% Consultancy
Nyras Limited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE 5DN 06195106 Crdinary 100% Consultancy
PA Consulting Group . Helding
Finance Limited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE 5SDN 09763513 Crdinary 100% company
PA Consulting 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE 5DN 08249452 Ordinary 100% Holding
Heldings Limited company
PA Consulting Management 1 5o ccoiien Place, London, SWIE SDN 09763551 Ordinary 100% Holding
Services Limited company
. Lo . Holding
PA Finance Limited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE 5DN 4001488 Ordinary 100% company
w B - Treasury o
PA G.roup j’rgasury 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE SDN (1984216 Ordinary 100% services
Services Limited
I _ __company
PA Holdings Limited 10 Bressender Place, Landon, SWIE SDN 02235016 Ordinary 100% ?gr'r";"')!iy
PA international : Holding
Consulting Group Limited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE SDN - 00854631 Ordinary 100% company
PA Knowledge Limited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE SDN - 05196589 Ordinary 100% Consultancy
PA Middle East Limited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE 5DN 06600426 Ordinary 100% Consultancy
- o T ) a Treasury T
PA N_etherfapds Treasury 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE 5DN 05790697 Orcinary 100% services
Services Limited
- - L o - company
PA Overseas . o Holding
Holdings | imited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE SDN 02282193 Qrdinary 100% company
PA Perfect Cost Grid Limited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE 50N 08339738 Ordinary 100% Consultancy
o . - - Treasury
fﬁmzree;sury Services (US) 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE 5DN 08101083 Qrdinary 100% services
-~ _ ) o company
PACG2 Limited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE S5DN 06555894 Ordinary 100% ?:::F')’;?W
Founder
Sparkler Limited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE SDN 04197111 2:::22‘3;2"‘"“ 100% Consultancy
L ordirr]ary shares
We Are Friday Limited 50 Farringdon Road, London, ECIM 3HE 07107161 Ordinary 100% Dormant
PA Consuilting Group 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE SDN 09761378 Ordinary 100% Holding
Holdings Ltd Company
Garden MidCo 1 Limited 10 Brassenden Place, London, SWIESDN 09761488 Ordinary 100% C"'O"r'ndp';?w
. - : Holding
Garden Finance Limited 10 Bressenden Place, London, SWIE 5DN - 09763192 Ordinary 100% Company

As a condition of the exemnptian, the Company has guaranteed the period-end liabihties of the relevant subsidiaries untit they
are settled in full, The liahilities of the subsidiaries at the year-end was £20.4 mitifian. Thes is the first year that the Company has
provided this guarantee {and tiwerefore the contingent hability) has existed.



About PA.

We beleve in the power of Ingenuity
to build 8 gositve human future

Asstrategios. technelogios and
mnovation coliide we Create
opprartunity frgm comolex:ty

Our diverse teams of experts cambing
mnovatve thinkng and breakthroogh
use of technologies to progress
turther, faster

Cur chents adapt and transform. and together
We aCthieve enduring results.

A nrovation and transtormation consuitancy.
wo are over 4.000 speciaiists in cansumer and
manutactuning. defence and security, encriy
and uibhies fnancial sarnaces, gover et gno
public services health and hife sciences. end
transpert. Qur people are strateqsts innovaiors
designers. consultants, chgstal experts saentists,
enaineors and technologists,

We operate globalie from offices across the UK
US. Netherlands and Nordics.

Siscover moere at paconsuiing.com
and cormect with PA an Linkedin ang Twitter

PA. Bringing Ingenuity to Life.




